40



Occupational mobility and skills transferability of worker in transition: systems, perceptions and processes support document 3

Dr Darryn Snell Dr Victor Gekara Dr Krystle Gatt RMIT University

This document was produced by the author(s) based on their research for the report *<Cross-occupational skill transferability: challenges and opportunities in a changing economy>*, and is an added resource for further information. The report is available on NCVER's Portal: NCVER's Portal: http://www.ncver.edu.au>.

The views and opinions expressed in this document are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government, state and territory governments or NCVER. Any errors and omissions are the responsibility of the author(s).

© Commonwealth of Australia 2016



With the exception of the Commonwealth Coat of Arms, the Department's logo, any material protected by a trade mark and where otherwise noted all material presented in this document is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au licence.

The details of the relevant licence conditions are available on the Creative Commons website (accessible using the links provided) as is the full legal code for the CC BY 3.0 AU licence http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/legalcode>.

The Creative Commons licence conditions do not apply to all logos, graphic design, artwork and photographs. Requests and enquiries concerning other reproduction and rights should be directed to the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER).

This document should be attributed as Snell, D & Gekara, V & Gatt, K 2016, *Occupational mobility and skills transferability of worker in transition: systems, perceptions and processes – support document* 3, NCVER, Adelaide.

Published by NCVER, ABN 87 007 967 311

Level 11, 33 King William Street, Adelaide, SA 5000 PO Box 8288 Station Arcade, Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

Phone +61 8 8230 8400 Fax +61 8 8212 3436

 Email ncver@ncver.edu.au Web <http://www.ncver.edu.au> <http://www.lsay.edu.au>

 Follow us:

 <http://twitter.com/ncver>

 <http://www.linkedin.com/company/ncver>

Contents

Executive summary	5
Research focus and methodology	5
Summary findings	6
Introduction: project scope and objectives	8
Research approach and methodologies	10
Case study one: Latrobe City and its workforce	13
Economic transition and industrial restructure	13
Case study two: City of Greater Geelong and its workforce	18
How do workers perceive and rate the transferability potential of	
their skills?	23
Workers directly employed by power generators	23
Workers employed by contract firms in the power industry	24
Ford and Alcoa workers	25
Employers' skills assessment and employment transition support	28
Energy Brix	28
Alcoa World Alumina	28
Ford Motor Company	29
Provision of training and formal accreditation of skills	30
Job market analysis	31
How do the agencies responsible for job relocation understand	
workers' skills?	33
Job support actors' views and application of workers' skills in the	
transition process	33
Do the skills developed over a worker's career enable them to find new	
jobs in a wide variety of unrelated occupations?	36
The value of soft skills in the employment transition outcomes	36
Discussion	40
Conclusion	44
References	46

Tables and figures

Tables

1	Total number of individuals interviewed for each case study	12
2	Industry growth and decline in Latrobe City, 2006, 2011, by Labour	
	Force Status	15
3	Occupational growth and decline in Latrobe City, 2006, 2011	16
4	Industry growth and decline in City of Greater Geelong, 2006, 2011,	
	by Labour Force Status	20
5	Occupational growth and decline in City of Greater Geelong,	
	2006, 2011	21
Fi	gures	
1	Redundancy and the actors involved in employment transition	11
2	Map of Latrobe City	13
3	Map of the City of Greater Geelong	18
4	Geelong region annual GRP growth rate, 2010-2014	22

Executive summary

The following report presents the findings of the third stage of a three stage research project investigating cross-occupational skills transfer—meaning occupational mobility that involves little or no additional training and depends heavily upon transferable skills from one occupational context to another (European Commission 2011). It builds on stages one and two which investigated (1) the employment implications of the economic transformation and industrial restructuring occurring in Australia currently and over the past decade or so, and (2) the architecture of the Australian VET system and its capacity to deliver skills that are transferable enough to enable job seekers to find work across different occupations and sectors.

The findings from these stages of the study show that recent industrial restructuring across the economy has caused a drastic reorganisation of industries, with many traditional sectors declining, leading to significant job losses. Since the new emerging industries are considerably different in terms of their operations and skills needs, the conclusion is that retrenched workers require highly transferable skills to enable them to find new work. An analysis of the training system reveals that in its basic architecture key employability skills are embedded at the core of every qualification, enabling the system to deliver reasonably transferable skills. However, the extent of such transferability must be understood within the context of similar occupations or occupational clusters.

Research focus and methodology

In this stage of the study the process of identifying and utilising transferable skills in the context of company closure and worker retrenchment is examined through two regional case studies—the Latrobe Valley and Geelong—in the State of Victoria. Economic and industrial restructuring has had a huge impact on these two regions. A number of prominent companies, which formed the bedrock of regional employment, have and are in the process of closing down, laying off large numbers of workers. These include Ford and Alcoa in Geelong and a number of ageing power generation companies in the Latrobe Valley (e.g. the Morwell Power Station/Energy Brix, Hazelwood, and Yallourn), which have for a long time supported a strong and secure employment base. Their closure or potential closure therefore introduces problematic employment disruption and regional economic instability where the greatest challenge is to limit unemployment through the effective transition of retrenched workers into new jobs.

The study reveals that a typical retrenched worker, in these cases, is a long-term one-employer worker with few, if any, post-school formal qualifications but a range of skills, both technical and non-technical, acquired mostly through work experience and informal on-the-job training. Since the worker has been retrenched out of a company in a sector in decline, there are important challenges presented with regard to their transition.

The overarching objective of this stage of the research, building on findings from the previous two stages, is therefore to understand the transferability value of the skills possessed by retrenched workers and how employment transition actors, including employers, training providers and job support agencies, cultivate and harness their potential to help workers find employment in other occupations within the region.

This stage of the study is guided by three key research questions:

- 1. How do workers perceive and rate the transferability potential of their skills in relation to future job prospects in different occupations?
- 2. How do the agencies responsible for job relocation in these circumstances understand and assist workers to understand these skills?
- 3. Do the skills developed over a worker's career enable them to easily find new jobs in a wide variety of often unrelated occupations, as described in stage one?

The case studies involved site visits and qualitative interviews with representatives of key stakeholder groups including retrenched or soon-to-be retrenched workers, employers, unions, job support agencies and training providers. The interview sessions explored the nature of the skills workers had, how they were acquired, their level of transferability, whether and how the responsible actors went about recognising their transferable skills, whether or not the transferability of existing skills was a key consideration in the transition process, and any job placement outcomes.

Summary findings

The study shows that at the point of retrenchment, the typical retrenched worker, as described above, does not understand the full range of the skills he/she has and, even when they do, they do not understand the extent of their transferability. This is largely because of two reasons: (1) their view of their skills is shaped by a narrow definition of technical skills, which fails to recognise the value of soft, generic and non-technical skills, and (2) most of these workers' skills are not formally accredited, thus limiting their application in a credentialist job market.

Conversely, workers retrenched from higher skill level occupations, as well as indirect contractor and company casual employees, are much better at recognising the full range of their skills and seem to have a clear view of their transferability value. These workers tend to have nationally recognised training qualifications and greater labour market experience, positively impacting their ability to attribute greater value to their non-technical skills.

Retrenchment trauma seems to result, in a big part, from a situation of long-term secure employment. Most of the workers interviewed in the study have been in the same employment all their lives, and therefore lack understanding of changes in the job market and the cognitive instruments for its navigation. In some cases, the individuals joined the workforce right after, or even before, completing secondary school and therefore have no formal post-school qualifications and have never experienced the process of job search.

The work of job support actors in the process of transition is very important and, when effectively executed, could help workers in the above described situation easily identify the broad range of their skills and the transferability value in them. An effective transition program is therefore one where adequate resources (time and funding) are dedicated to a guided process of discovery of one's skill sets and their demand in the market. Training providers are essential to the effective outcome of worker transition; however, they are currently not well integrated in the process. Instead of providing much needed consultation on emerging skill and qualification trends from the outset, their input is determined by employers and job support agencies who bring them in to provide upskilling and formal recognition of workplace skills training services. Likewise, an important role of employment facilitation actors is in how they help steer people's skills towards sectors and occupations with employment opportunities. In many instances it is observed that the Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) offered, and advice given to workers on where to attempt to obtain new employment, were not based on an appropriate market analysis.

Ultimately, workers with recognisable transferable skills have better chances at being successful in the job market after retrenchment. The most transferable skills one has tend to be the soft/generic and non-technical ones. Employers should therefore constantly encourage and support their workers to develop these skills through formal accredited training, in order to prepare them for easy transition to the next job. Yet, as some of the interviews in this study highlight, individuals do need to take some personal responsibility to ensure that they accredit/update their skills, and do not become complacent about their employment.

Introduction: project scope and objectives

The overarching objective of the study is to investigate cross-occupational skills transfer—that is, situations where workers are able to use the skills they have developed for, and in, one occupational context to obtain employment in a completely different occupation, without need for significant upskilling or retraining (European Commission 2011). The study is premised on the understanding that in rapidly changing economies where industries are being restructured, cross-occupational mobility is vital for employers and workers to flexibly meet varying employment demands. Occupational mobility can occur in many different contexts and levels, ranging from promotion, taking on different roles within the same workplace for experience, and changing employers but remaining within the same occupation or industry. Although such types of mobility are generally vertical, and for the enhancement of one's career, this study is concerned with horizontal cross-occupational mobility whereby disadvantaged workers from declining occupations and industries take on new work which may only partially rely on their existing skills. There is considerable speculation about the degree of skills transferability within the Australian labour market and the facilitators and barriers associated with it (Mayer Committee 1992; Misko 1998; Patridge, Chapman and O'Neil 2009). It is generally acknowledged that an individual's level of skill affects the probability of employment or unemployment during changing economic circumstances (National Quality Council 2010; Skills for Jobs 2013; Sweet 2009). Research has highlighted the importance of acquiring transferable skills in one's occupational mobility (Curtis & McKenzie 2001; Misko 1995; Misko 1999). Furthermore, research findings show that occupational mobility is more common among people with broadly transferable skills (e.g. machinery operators and drivers and sales workers) and less common among, for example managers, due to skills transferability potential (Sweet 2011).

This study has been developed to build upon the existing significant body of research in this area, but with a specific focus on the enablers and barriers to cross-occupational skills transfer between declining and growing occupations in Australia. It employs a multi-level evidence-based analysis aimed at capturing the complexities and specificities of industrial transformation, skills development and cross-occupational employment mobility, and is guided by four key research questions:

- 1. What is the skills demand profile in the Australian economy in the prevailing context of economic transformation: which occupations are growing and which ones are declining?
- 2. What is the nature of skills possessed by retrenched workers and what is their transferability value?
- 3. To what degree do industry training packages and qualifications, which underpin the Australian VET system, facilitate and enhance horizontal cross-occupational skills transfer and employment mobility in times of industrial restructuring?
- 4. Do the experiences of workers in declining occupations and industries who are assisted to acquire work in new occupations reflect the skills transferability potential embedded in the training system?

The data collection and analysis are organised into three integrated stages, which are designed to incrementally address the research questions and comprehensively cover the scope of the study. The first stage involved a secondary analysis of ABS Census data to determine how the Australian economy has changed over the past decade, with specific reference to declining and growing industries and

occupations. In this stage we identified declining and growing occupations, as a way of understanding the skills demand profile of the emerging industrial landscape. The occupations identified in this analysis formed the basis for the examination in stage two of the study, where we considered the training architecture itself. The aim was to determine the extent to which the VET system facilitates or impedes cross-occupational skills transfer. In examining this question we considered transferability at two different levels of the training system: we began at the level of skills themselves, and then followed on with an examination at the level of units of competency. These two levels of analysis enabled the research team to make determinations about how well Australia's training architecture delivers transferable skills opportunities.

In this third stage we investigate the actual practicalities of skills transferability and employment mobility under the identified circumstances of industrial restructure. There is a significant body of literature which underscores the importance of transferable skills when retrenched workers need to find new jobs in different industries and occupations (Sweet 2011; Curtis & McKenzie 2001; Misko 1995; Misko 1999). What is unclear, however, is how well the concept and practice of skills transferability is understood among the workers themselves and the various training system actors and employment facilitators. Having established in stage two of the study that, in theory, the Australian VET system produces reasonably transferable skills, stage three seeks to examine how skills transferability works in practice, and how well workers, employers, training system actors and employment facilitators understand the importance of transferable skills and assist workers to understand these skills.

The analysis in this stage is guided by three key questions:

- 1. How do workers perceive and rate the transferability potential of their skills in relation to future job prospects in different occupations?
- 2. How do the agencies responsible for job relocation in these circumstances understand and assist workers to understand these skills?
- 3. Do the skills developed over a worker's career enable them to easily find new jobs in a wide variety of often unrelated occupations, as described in stage one?

Findings from this stage of the study will assist us in better understanding how well transferable skills are understood among displaced or disadvantaged workers and those assisting them to find new employment and occupational opportunities.

Research approach and methodologies

This stage of the study utilises case study methods involving documentary analysis and semistructured interviews with workers, training system actors, and employment facilitators. Through the data collected we examine how and where workers employed in declining occupations and/or threatened industries acquire work in new occupations and industries. We also examine the role various training and employment stakeholders play in the process of placing these workers into new jobs, as well as their perception of the transferability of existing skills.

The analysis involves two case studies which illustrate the transformations identified in stage one, where industrial decline and company closures have led to worker retrenchments. Since company closures and employment loss is widespread within and across regions, we have opted for regional as opposed to institutional case studies so as to capture a wider scope of the situation. The localities of the two case studies are Geelong and the Latrobe Valley in the State of Victoria. Both regions are undergoing significant structural and occupational change as a result of economic transformations occurring within the traditional industries in these localities. For workers employed in these traditional industries, occupational mobility and skills transferability will be important for their ongoing employment.

The case studies are based on accounts and narratives of two categories of informants. The first category includes workers employed in industries undergoing significant change in which job loss has occurred or is expected to occur. Under this category, two types of workers were interviewed: those who had already been made redundant, and those who were still employed but were confronting the prospects of losing their jobs as a result of announced or anticipated company closures. In the case of Geelong, two major closures were considered; the closure of Alcoa's Point Henry aluminium smelter and it's rolling and recycling mill, and the closure of Ford's car manufacturing plant. The workers interviewed for this particular case study were either current or past employees of these two firms.

In the Latrobe Valley case study, interviews were conducted with retrenched workers and those currently employed in the region's power generation industry. The retrenched workers were employed with HRL's Energy Brix power station and associated briquette factory, which closed in August 2014. Currently employed power industry employees worked for Yallourn Power Station, Hazelwood Power Station or maintenance contractors affiliated to these two companies. Considerable speculation surrounds the future of these two ageing and carbon-intensive power stations and both were considered for closure under the Rudd/Gillard government's 'contract for closure' program, which aimed to bring about the retirement of carbon-intensive power generation assets as a way to reduce the nation's overall carbon emissions.

The second category of research participants include a range of training system and employment facilitation actors who either directly or indirectly seek to assist retrenched workers or workers in transition (see Figure 1 below). Included within this category are employers, training providers, unions, Job Service Agencies (JSAs)/jobactive providers¹, and career counsellors. These actors perform an important role in assisting workers to understand the formal and informal skills they have acquired, the transferability of their skills and how they relate to other occupations, where there may

¹ Job Services Agencies (JSAs) operated from 1 July 2009 and was replaced by the jobactive system that commenced from 1 July 2015.

be local job opportunities for those skills, and how they might succeed in finding employment. The work of these actors has great influence on the decisions and outcomes of workers at the different stages of employment transition.

Figure 1 Redundancy and the actors involved in employment transition



For the purposes of our research we view these various actors as shaping how individual workers come to understand the range of skills they possess, their scope of transferability, and by extension their occupational mobility opportunities. The extent and duration of involvement that a worker has with

these various actors therefore has implications for their understanding, and decisions they may make, regarding future employment or retraining. We have also included representatives from Industry Skills Councils and Federal, State and Local Government departments (e.g. Regional Development Victoria, The Department of Education and Early Childhood Development, local government regional development officers) who perform a role in shaping how training system and employment facilitation actors perceive the local economy in terms of where occupational growth and decline is occurring and where occupational mobility opportunities are likely for disadvantaged workers. Thus, while these actors may have little or no involvement in directly assisting disadvantaged workers, their views may impact on how training system and employment facilitation actors understand workers' situations, and the advice they may provide relating to the application of workers' skills in the changing local labour market.

The inclusion of workers and training system and employment facilitation informants within the two case studies enabled the research team to consider and capture workers' experiences regarding employment loss or anticipated job loss and how they think about their acquired skills, occupational mobility and future job prospects. It also enabled the consideration of how training system and labour market facilitation actors perceive the skills of retrenched or vulnerable workers, and how best to assist them in understanding their skills, occupational mobility, and locating new employment opportunities.

Seventy-seven semi-structured interviews were conducted each lasting between 35 minutes to one and a half hours. The following table provides an overview of the number of individuals interviewed according to the above stated categories and subcategories for each case study:

	Latrobe	Geelong
Employers	8	4
Retrenched or soon-to-be-retrenched workers	20	16
Union representatives	2	2
Training system actors	2	5
Employment facilitators	5	6
Government department officials	4	3
Total	41	36

Table 1 Total number of individuals interviewed for each case study

Interviewee type

The interviews were audio recorded, formally transcribed, coded and thematically analysed alongside other data from documents and reports as well as field notes, to identify views, experiences and perceptions of the various actors regarding the role of transferable skills in post retrenchment employment outcomes.

Case study one: Latrobe City and its workforce

Geography and economic landscape

Latrobe City is a local government area located about 150 kilometres east of Melbourne, the capital city of Victoria. Latrobe City covers a geographical area of just over 1,400 square kilometres and is made up of four major urban areas—Traralgon/Loy Yang, Morwell, Moe (including Newborough) and Churchill—and several smaller townships, including Yallourn North, Boolarra, Yinnar, Traralgon South, Glengarry, Toongabbie and Tyers. Its population is approximately 70,000 with nearly 80 per cent residing in the four major urban areas. Latrobe City is typically referred to as the Latrobe Valley due to the local government boundaries covering much of the Latrobe Valley geographical region. This region is renowned for its rich natural resources—brown coal (lignite), timber and water in particular—and its influential electricity generation industry, which produces some 85 per cent of Victoria's electricity requirements.

Figure 2 Map of Latrobe City



For the past two decades, the Latrobe Valley has also acquired the reputation of being one of the most troubled regional areas of Australia (Vinson, Rawsthorn, Beavis & Ericson 2015; Vinson 2004), stemming from an estimated loss of approximately 5,000 jobs from a workforce of 8,500 when the State Electricity Commission of Victoria (SECV) was privatised in the late 1980s and early 1990s (Kazakevitch et al. 1997; Birrell 2001). Such privatisation and ongoing industrial restructuring in the power generation and manufacturing industries has transformed the once vibrant region into one of the country's most economically depressed regions.

The Latrobe Valley power industry consists of four major coal-fired power generators (Hazelwood Power Station, Yallourn Power Station, Loy Yang A and Loy Yang B). These power stations are ageing and considered to be a major contributor to Australia's high carbon emissions. Over the past five years, there have been Federal and State government carbon-emission reduction initiatives that have sought to bring about the closure or partial closure of selected generators, primarily Hazelwood and Yallourn Power stations, which are the oldest of the generators (see Victoria Government 2010; Australian Government 2011; Latrobe City 2010). The Gillard Government's 'contract for closure' program was by far the most ambitious of the initiatives which aimed to buy out and shut down 2000 megawatts of brown coal fired power by 2020 (Australian Government 2011). To-date these programs have been unsuccessful in reducing carbon emissions from Latrobe Valley generators, and have contributed to ongoing uncertainty within the sector and within the community (Fairbrother et al. 2012; Snell 2011). However, it is generally accepted that these power generation assets continue to face an uncertain future as a result of their age, their carbon-intensity and declining demand for electricity as heavy users like the Geelong Alcoa smelter, automobile and other manufacturers wind down their operations. For Yallourn and Hazelwood power stations, the question is no longer about if they have a future, but how much longer they will remain operating.

There's a little touch of the power industry everywhere and in every workshop you go to.

This view expressed by a 48 year old boilermaker highlights the historical importance of the power generation industry in the Latrobe Valley. The social, economic and employment impact of power generator closure on the Latrobe Valley community has been of significant concern for national, state and local governments for some time (Victoria Government 2010; Latrobe City 2010; Australian Government 2011). A number of government initiatives and strategies have been developed to assist the region in diversifying its economy and stimulating job growth in response to the challenges faced in the Latrobe Valley, and in preparation for the likelihood of a power generator closure (see Victoria Government 2012; Fairbrother et al. 2012). Among these strategic initiatives has been the formulation of a comprehensive economic development plan known as the *Latrobe Valley Industry and Employment Roadmap* (Victoria Government 2012). To what degree these plans and strategies will assist the region and its workforce to transition away from its historical reliance on the brown-coal power generation industry, however, remains unclear.

Today the Latrobe Valley is a region with significant social disadvantage and higher than average unemployment rates (see Vinson, Rawsthorn, Beavis & Ericson 2015) struggling to reverse its economic and industrial misfortunes. An analysis of the 2006 and 2011 ABS Census data show the significant changes occurring in employment in the past few years. The results presented in Table 2 indicate a significant employment decline across all the major industries in the region. It further demonstrates that full-time secure jobs are being rapidly replaced by part-time ones, thus suggesting a growing casualisation of employment in the region.

Industry		Full-ti	me			Part-tir	ne	
			+/-				+/-	
	2006	2011	jobs	%	2006	2011	jobs	%
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing	394	280	-114	-28.9%	164	168	4	2.4%
Mining	188	287	99	52.7%	24	24	0	0.0%
Manufacturing	2429	2092	-337	-13.9%	350	338	-12	-3.4%
Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste Services	1710	1265	-445	-26.0%	154	125	-29	-18.8%
Construction	1991	1512	-479	-24.1%	273	291	18	6.6%
Wholesale Trade	500	471	-29	-5.8%	133	108	-25	-18.8%
Retail Trade	1680	1361	-319	-19.0%	2099	1740	-359	-17.1%
Accommodation and Food Services	446	497	51	11.4%	921	987	66	7.2%
Transport, Postal and Warehousing	555	595	40	7.2%	174	198	24	13.8%
Information Media and Telecommunications	257	144	-113	-44.0%	118	96	-22	-18.6%
Financial and Insurance Services	467	373	-94	-20.1%	221	184	-37	-16.7%
Rental, Hiring and Real Estate Services	210	228	18	8.6%	78	68	-10	-12.8%
Professional, Scientific and Technical Services	636	636	0	0.0%	265	286	21	7.9%
Administrative and Support Services	459	312	-147	-32.0%	247	216	-31	-12.6%
Public Administration and Safety	1436	1430	-6	-0.4%	516	591	75	14.5%
Education and Training	1365	1329	-36	-2.6%	974	964	-10	-1.0%
Health Care and Social Assistance	1495	1780	285	19.1%	1720	2001	281	16.3%
Arts and Recreation Services	96	81	-15	-15.6%	127	131	4	3.1%
Other Services	645	616	-29	-4.5%	253	244	-9	-3.6%
Total	16959	15289	-1670	-9.8%	8811	8760	-51	-0.6%

Table 2	Industry growth and decline in Latrol	be City. 2006, 2011.	by Labour Force Status
		,,,, ,,	

Source: ABS 2006, 2009 and 2011.

The consequence of the industrial restructuring noted above is the transformation in occupations as illustrated in Table 3, which displays the 10 occupations which have experienced the most growth and decline in Latrobe City from 2006 to 2011. It indicates that most of the employment growth in the region is in service related occupations, while much of the decline in occupations belongs to traditional manufacturing. The direction of job growth in Latrobe was jokingly described by a local union organiser, who stated: 'the real thing is we're going to become a country of baristas and that's about it at the moment. That's about the only thriving industry'. Today, the largest employer is Latrobe Regional Hospital (approximately 1,400 employees) with Health and Community Services the largest employing sector. Australian Paper Pty Ltd., one of the only remaining paper mills in Australia, is the second largest employer with just over 1000 workers. Centrelink also employs a considerable number of workers in their Latrobe Valley call centre.

Occu	pation				
		2006	2011	+/- jobs	%
	Registered Nurses	609	777	168	27.6%
	Aged and Disabled Carers	372	504	132	35.5%
	Nursing Support and Personal Care Workers	164	222	58	35.4%
	Food and Drink Factory Workers	53	95	42	79.2%
	Child Carers	234	274	40	17.1%
Growing	Social Workers	51	86	35	68.6%
	Other Building and Engineering Technicians	83	115	32	38.6%
	Plastics and Rubber Production Machine Operators	4	32	28	700.0%
	Health and Welfare Services Managers	44	72	28	63.6%
	Generalist Medical Practitioners	100	126	26	26.0%
	Metal Fitters and Machinists	604	456	-148	-24.5%
	Inquiry Clerks	326	205	-121	-37.1%
	Sales Assistants (General)	1790	1672	-118	-6.6%
	Chemical, Gas, Petroleum and Power Generation Plant Operators	404	287	-117	-29.0%
Doclining	Shelf Fillers	256	156	-100	-39.1%
Deciming	Machine Operators (not further defined)	140	45	-95	-67.9%
	Motor Mechanics	329	245	-84	-25.5%
	Secretaries	189	106	-83	-43.9%
	Livestock Farmers	321	246	-75	-23.4%
	Store persons	208	137	-71	-34.1%
	Total	6281	5858	-423	-6.7%

Table 3 Occupational growth and decline in Latrobe City, 2006, 2011

Source: ABS Census Data, 2006 and 2011, and ANZSCO Classification of Occupations, 2009.

Employment in the power generation industry

The employment figures provided in government reports for the Latrobe Valley's power generation industry vary significantly, from between 2,500-5,000 workers (Fairbrother et al. 2012, p.30). This difference is primarily due to variations in employment measurements and who is considered to be employed in the industry. Smaller estimates only measure those directly employed by the generators while others include the employees of contract firms who are closely associated with the industry. The highest estimates also include workers who become involved in 'outage' related maintenance work which is sporadic but well paid and provides an income for many of the region's skilled but casualised workers. The result of these different employment arrangements and relationships between power generators and their associated contractors is that the work and employment experience for workers within the industry varies significantly (Fairbrother et al. 2012, p.30).

Interviews with stakeholders, employers and workers in the Latrobe Valley region indicate that employees directly employed by the generators tend to have the most secure and best remunerated

jobs in the region. These workers tend to be skilled or semi-skilled but often do not have formally recognised post-school gualifications. The workforce comprises mainly older men, many of whom began their careers with the SECV prior to privatisation and have only worked within this industry. Workers employed by contract firms, on the other hand, tend to have nationally recognised certificates and trade qualifications, but are in less secure forms of employment. Full-time employees of contract firms have the highest level of job security but this security is typically only for the duration of the firm's contract with the power generators. Most of the work performed by these workers relates to mine and power generator maintenance, road construction, fire safety, security and other activities outsourced by the generators. These contract workers also confront an uncertain future and have therefore been included in the study. A third category of power industry workers are casual workers who perform specialised work for either the contract firms or the power generators on a needs be basis, such as major maintenance projects, including mine rehabilitation or turbine outages and overhauls. The remuneration for this casual work is significant but the work is short lived. Unlike the work experience of the direct employees of power generators who have typically only known the one employer full-time, casual contract workers have typically worked for a range of firms. In many cases, these contract workers have also worked for firms servicing other types of industries (e.g. oil and gas, pulp and paper, food manufacturing) located both within and outside the region. In considering questions about skills transferability and occupational mobility it is important to understand these distinctions in skills, gualifications and labour market experiences between the different categories of workers.

The first major test-case of what the impacts of a power generation closure might mean for workers in this industry came in August 2014 when a small Morwell power generator, known as Energy Brix, ceased operation. Energy Brix, also known as the Morwell Power Station, was a small generator producing about 170 megawatts of power that had operated since 1956. The electricity produced by Energy Brix supplied electricity into the national grid, as well as powering a co-located briguette factory. With declining demand for briguettes and ageing technology, the Energy Brix power plant and briguette factory were no longer commercially viable. The closure of Energy Brix resulted in the loss of approximately 70 direct jobs and up to 30 additional contractor positions (Nelson 2014). The skills sets of these workers and the challenges associated with their occupational mobility are similar to those which workers in the other larger Latrobe Valley power plants are likely to confront. Included among the workforce are a large number of unskilled to semi-skilled occupations associated with cleaning, general labouring and assistance to operators of boilers and turbines. Other occupations include boiler operators and plant controllers, who look after boilers and turbines, which represent more highly skilled occupations (although few have nationally recognised post-school gualifications) and trade gualified electricians, boilermakers, fitters and turners and mechanical engineers who represent the highest skilled and qualified employees.

This case study includes interviews with retrenched Energy Brix workers as well as workers employed by other Latrobe Valley generators and associated contractors. Generally, the workers employed directly by the generators tend to be older than workers employed by power industry contractors. Workers employed by contractors tend to have nationally recognised post-school qualifications and certificates and have typically worked for different employers throughout their careers. Workers employed directly by the generators, on the other hand, tend to have fewer nationally recognised qualifications and have often only worked in the same occupation for the one company. These differences in skills, qualifications and labour market experiences impact on the way these workers come to perceive their skills and their occupational mobility prospects.

Case study two: City of Greater Geelong and its workforce

Geography and landscape

The City of Greater Geelong is located southwest of Melbourne. It is the largest municipality in the Geelong Region, with 224,926 residents (ABS, Regional population growth, Australia (3218.0), 2014), and is located on the shores of Port Phillip Bay. It covers an area of 1,247 square kilometres, which is primarily urban with the vast majority of its population living in the city, while other significant settlements within the local government area include: Anakie, Balliang, Barwon Heads, Batesford, Ceres, Clifton Springs, Drysdale, Lara, Ocean Grove, Portarlington and St Leonards.

Figure 3 Map of the City of Greater Geelong



As a whole, the Geelong Region has a vast array of industries that contribute to its economy, including forestry and timber, agriculture, tourism and hospitality, and mining in the expansive rural areas in the western and central parts of the region. The region has many natural attractions, such as the iconic Great Ocean Road that runs through the coastal towns of Torquay, Anglesea, Lorne and Apollo Bay, and several marine parks and the Otway Ranges. The region's natural beauty underpins recent population growth and economic diversification into retail, health, education and other social services (G21 Regional Alliance 2014).

Economic transition and industrial restructure

With its great potential, the City of Greater Geelong has increasingly become one in transition, stranded between its history and its future. Its post-World War II legacy as a stronghold of heavy industry led by large-scale manufacturing companies is fading (Potter 2014). In 2013 Boral Cement cut 90 jobs at its Geelong cement plant and Target cut 260 staff from its Geelong headquarters. This was followed by the closure of Qantas/Forstar heavy maintenance fleet at the Avalon regional airport in March 2014 with 300 job losses, and Shell selling its oil refinery in the same year, which also contributed to some job losses (ABC News 2014).

Two of the largest companies to cease/downscale manufacturing in the region were the Australian arms of Alcoa World Alumina and Ford Motor Company. Alcoa is an aluminium smelting company established in 1961. Up until 2014 it operated out of two locations in Geelong; at the Anglesea power station it generated electricity using brown coal, which was transmitted to Point Henry to power the smelter. The company used about 1.1 million tonnes of brown coal to supply about 41 per cent of the total electricity it needed to produce about 190,000 tonnes of aluminium per year at its smelter. Their 900 strong Geelong workforce was mainly made up of a mixture of mechanical and electrical trade workers and semi-skilled jobs such as machine operators. Alcoa also had professional staff, including engineers, accountants, managers and human resources officers. Alcoa closed its Point Henry aluminium smelter in July 2014 and its rolling and recycling mill at the end of 2014, with a total loss of 800 jobs, including employees who had worked for the company for over 40 years.

Ford, on the other hand, has been downsizing since mid-2013, and will close by October 2016, causing 510 job losses at its Geelong body shop and engine plant (ABC News 2013; Balinksi 2014; Drill, Landy & Hurley 2014). The company however insists that it will continue to employ more than 1,500 people in Australia in research and development and dealerships after 2016 (ABC News 2013). Ford, a subsidiary of Ford Motor Company of Canada, operates out of two locations (Geelong and Campbellfield) and manufactures, imports and distributes small, medium and large passenger vehicles, four-wheel drive and commercial vehicles for domestic and export markets. The Geelong plant, established in 1925, was the original location. It is the third largest automotive manufacturer in Australia, which, at its peak employed more than 3,000 employees across its Geelong and Broadmeadows factories (Ford 2015). A number of factors are associated with these closures, including the "global oversupply of aluminium, dramatically falling aluminium prices and a high Australian dollar" (Drill, Landy & Hurley 2014), the high cost of producing vehicles in Australia, amounting to double that of Europe and four times that of Asia, and high export tariffs which have crippled the local automotive manufacturing sector.

Manufacturing accounted for 36 per cent of Geelong's workforce in 1971, but by 2011 its share had fallen to 11 per cent and the raw number of manufacturing jobs had halved to just over 10,000. These closures illustrate the general industrial restructuring that has gone on throughout the region in recent years, whereby more stable traditional heavy industries have declined giving way to new, more serviced-oriented industries (see Table 4). Healthcare, social assistance and retail jobs are on the rise, while construction is catching up (Potter 2014). However as an illustration of the great economic potential of the region, despite losing thousands of manufacturing jobs over decades, its unemployment rate hovers slightly above the Victorian average. Thus the data suggest that Geelong is not so much losing jobs, as shifting them from one sector to others (Potter 2014).

Industry	Full-time				Part-time			
			+/-				+/-	
	2006	2011	jobs	%	2006	2011	jobs	%
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing	444	410	-34	-7.7%	251	213	-38	-15.1%
Mining	73	86	13	17.8%	13	15	2	15.4%
Manufacturing	9850	8323	-1527	-15.5%	1479	1370	-109	-7.4%
Electricity, Gas, Water and Waste Services	568	745	177	31.2%	94	114	20	21.3%
Construction	3589	4112	523	14.6%	957	999	42	4.4%
Wholesale Trade	1887	1629	-258	-13.7%	564	608	44	7.8%
Retail Trade	5167	5243	76	1.5%	5574	5510	-64	-1.1%
Accommodation and Food Services	1736	1775	39	2.2%	3007	3404	397	13.2%
Transport, Postal and Warehousing	2030	1993	-37	-1.8%	624	590	-34	-5.4%
Information Media and Telecommunications	581	474	-107	-18.4%	355	314	-41	-11.5%
Financial and Insurance Services	1048	1658	610	58.2%	456	561	105	23.0%
Rental, Hiring and Real Estate Services	667	755	88	13.2%	298	283	-15	-5.0%
Professional, Scientific and Technical Services	2280	2544	264	11.6%	1071	1261	190	17.7%
Administrative and Support Services	1063	889	-174	-16.4%	959	903	-56	-5.8%
Public Administration and Safety	2548	2686	138	5.4%	880	1067	187	21.3%
Education and Training	4322	4866	544	12.6%	2650	3248	598	22.6%
Health Care and Social Assistance	4275	5248	973	22.8%	5044	6466	1422	28.2%
Arts and Recreation Services	432	508	76	17.6%	524	626	102	19.5%
Other Services	1829	1826	-3	-0.2%	972	1089	117	12.0%
Total	44389	45770	1381	3.1%	25772	28641	2869	11.1%

 Table 4
 Industry growth and decline in City of Greater Geelong, 2006, 2011, by Labour Force Status

Source: ABS 2006, 2009 and 2011.

These transformations have had a significant destabilising impact on employment, particularly in terms of growing job insecurity and employment casualisation as full-time jobs are increasingly replaced with temporary and part-time ones as illustrated in Table 4. As further demonstrated in Table 5, displaying the 10 occupations which have experienced the most growth and decline in the City of Greater Geelong from 2006 to 2011, many of the occupations that are on the decline belong to traditional industries, mostly in manufacturing and construction. The growing occupations belong to more service oriented industries, mainly in healthcare and social assistance.

		2006	2011	+/- jobs	%
	Registered Nurses	2187	2597	410	18.7%
	Aged and Disabled Carers	937	1321	384	41.0%
	Child Carers	614	850	236	38.4%
	General Clerks	1653	1842	189	11.4%
	Receptionists	1221	1379	158	12.9%
Growing	Architectural, Building and Surveying Technicians	292	444	152	52.1%
	Bar Attendants and Baristas	381	521	140	36.7%
	Contract, Program and Project Administrators	472	606	134	28.4%
	Plumbers	484	614	130	26.9%
	University Lecturers and Tutors	305	431	126	41.3%
	Aircraft Maintenance Engineers	598	492	-106	-17.7%
	Shelf Fillers	567	443	-124	-21.9%
	Sales Assistants (General)	5058	4931	-127	-2.5%
	Managers (not further defined)	366	228	-138	-37.7%
	Inquiry Clerks	481	333	-148	-30.8%
Declining	Textile and Footwear Production Machine Operators	394	227	-167	-42.4%
	Call or Contact Centre Workers	325	122	-203	-62.5%
	Secretaries	611	399	-212	-34.7%
	Machine Operators (not further defined)	347	122	-225	-64.8%
	Metal Fitters and Machinists	958	694	-264	-27.6%
	Total	18251	18596	345	1.9%

Table 5 Occupational growth and decline in City of Greater Geelong, 2006, 2011

Occupation

Source: ABS Census Data, 2006 and 2011, and ANZSCO Classification of Occupations, 2009.

The above noted job losses are consistent with Geelong's declining regional output from 2010 to 2014, as illustrated in Figure 4. While manufacturing still makes an outsized contribution to Geelong's measured output, with smaller manufacturing firms like Boundary Bend Olives, the Little Creatures brewery and high-tech wheel-maker Carbon Revolution contributing about \$10.7 billion, or 43 per cent of the region's manufacturing total, it is a sector in decline within the region and elsewhere (Potter 2014; Fairbrother et al. 2013, p.103).



Figure 4 Geelong region annual GRP growth rate, 2010-2014

Like the situation in the Latrobe Valley, this state of economic flux means more people will need to look for jobs in emerging occupations. Thus, there is an increasing need to identify emerging industries, and to assess future skills, training resources, and the potential for occupational mobility. As employment becomes more temporary and casualised, employers need to appreciate the importance of transferable skills in order to ensure agile occupational mobility and reduced unemployment.

Source: Calculation based on NIEIR (June 2015)

How do workers perceive and rate the transferability potential of their skills?

Worker perceptions about their skills, the transferability of their skills, and their future job prospects are conditioned by their organisational and employment experiences. In this section we consider how workers perceive their skills and consider if these views differ between employees of power generators, contract firms, Alcoa and Ford.

Workers directly employed by power generators

...you're more or less trapped, or confined to the generational power station industry.

This view expressed by a power station operator of a Latrobe Valley generator was commonly expressed by workers employed by power generators in the mines or power stations. Most of these workers thought they had a job for life and never considered the need for developing transferable skills. Few had even considered what transferable skills they had developed over the years working in the same organisation and often in the same job. One power station unit controller stated:

It's difficult to say [if I have transferable skills]. I'm not too sure. I've never gone for a job interview outside of the industry. So it's a bit hard to relate to how well other industries would accept my [skills].

When workers were asked about their transferable skills they overwhelmingly focused on their technical hard skills which they perceived to be highly specific. For these workers, these were their 'real' skills. While some perceived that these skills were relatively transferable between the different power generators, others thought that the significant technological differences between power generators even made this level of occupational mobility questionable. Former Energy Brix workers were particularly concerned about this barrier to their occupational mobility. As one worker commented:

... we are technologically backward in that regard...I think that would be probably the main stumbling block.

For the employees of power generators most skill development occurs in-house. If workers have certificates and qualifications they tend to be specific to the firm or the former SECV, which had developed an apprenticeship system specific for the industry. This situation places these workers in a disadvantaged position in a labour market where qualifications are given increased importance. The identification of transferable skills for these workers is also made much more difficult when they do not have formally recognised qualifications.

While many of the workers do not have formal post-school qualifications, training package qualifications developed by E-Oz Energy Skills Australia would align with many of the occupations performed by these workers, such as Certificate IV in ESI Generation (Operations) or Certificate IV in ESI Generation (Systems Operation). It was noted by several of the former Energy Brix workers that prior to being retrenched Energy Brix did offer employees the opportunity to undertake Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) with the aim of developing nationally recognised qualifications for the work they performed. The uptake among workers, however, appeared to be relatively small. For some, the RPL

process seemed overly complex and daunting, while others did not think having a qualification was going to assist them greatly in acquiring another job, particularly given the number of jobs requiring these qualifications were in decline.

However, at the same time it was often commented on that the industry was increasingly expecting new recruits to have qualifications, particularly trade qualifications, even though the job advertisements did not require this level of skill. A 45 year old service coordinator who had worked with the one power generator since she left school at the age of 18 observed:

I've noticed over the last ten years instead of just employing ordinary people or a person off the street they're always looking for tradesmen now, which wasn't the case twenty years ago.

Some perceived this as a way for the other power generators to discriminate against the older, more skilled, but unqualified workers in the industry.

Workers employed by contract firms in the power industry

I've got a wide range and variety of skill knowledge.

Workers employed by contract firms had a very different perception about their skills and the transferability of their skills. These workers tend to be younger and highly qualified trades persons (e.g. electricians, fitters and turners, boilermakers, construction workers), often with very specialised skills such as sheet metal fabrication and insulation, high pressure welders or high voltage electrical fitters. Many of these workers also hold a range of certificates related to working at heights, crane driving, rigging and scaffolding. Most have experienced working for a range of different employers and having to go through job application and interview processes. These workers are much more confident about their skills than the workers employed directly by the generators. In interviews they would often talk about the many jobs they have had throughout their career and how they went about looking for work when confronted with job loss, which was not an uncommon experience particularly for the casual contract workers. For these workers, being able to find alternative employment demonstrated to them that they had transferable skills.

What these workers considered to be transferable skills, however, was not dissimilar to what workers employed directly by the power generators expressed. When asked what they considered to be transferable skills they focused overwhelmingly on their technical/hard skills. When they spoke about occupational mobility it was largely between very similar occupations requiring the same type of skills. A sheet metal insulation worker, for example, stated:

Sheet metal insulation is very much a trade that can be very applicable to everything. It's only the specifications that change on job sites. So you might have thermal insulation which is hot, or you might have cold insulation for freezing temperatures, or specifications for fire-proofing or just weatherproofing, or just noise or anything.

This focus on technical/hard skills has meant few workers have considered what other skills they may have acquired which enable them to move into very different types of occupations. Nonetheless, confronted with job insecurity and having to actively search for employment opportunities they have developed a view that their skills were their greatest asset. While they raised significant concerns about the future of the power industry and the region more generally, they were confident that they could find similar jobs elsewhere in the country where their skills were highly sought after. Even workers with highly specialised skills, such as conveyor belt splicing, felt like they could find work somewhere if jobs within the region disappeared. As employees of contractors, these workers seem to be resigned to a working life in which jobs and work comes and goes, and there is increased competition in the labour market: 'There's always three or four people lined up outside for your job'. For them it is their skills and accumulated labour market experiences which provide them the key to occupational mobility and economic survival. Job insecurity has meant these workers have had to be quite resilient and be prepared to go for periods without work or an income. While there was a desire to remain living and working in the region, most acknowledged that they might need to relocate to find work if the industry continued to shed jobs. This was not an unfamiliar experience for many of them. As one contract worker summarised:

It's just the uncertainty. Some people can handle it, some people can't... It's just how I work. I'll even have to travel to Melbourne. I've done it before, I'll do it again.

Many contract workers also had an appreciation for ongoing accredited training, and if need be, retraining. Some workers had undertaken training out of work hours or between contracts in order to improve their chances in the labour market, or to further their own particular interests. In their mind, this additional training and certification provided increased occupational mobility and opened up the potential for employment opportunities beyond the power industry.

Ford and Alcoa workers

We have got no skills to get into those [Health Care and Community Services] industries. We have good discipline... issue resolution, how to deal with people, how to work in groups and teams, but how do you actually articulate that to a new employer in an interview? It's not easy.

The above quote sums up a common feeling among many retrenched workers across the Alcoa and Ford workforces facing retrenchment after many years in the same employment. It is also an accurate articulation of the transferability challenge, i.e., what are transferable skills, where can they be applied and how do we recognise them? Clearly, the quoted worker does not recognise soft/core or non-technical generic skills as useful in the transition.

The most important question in the mind of a retrenched, or soon-to-be-retrenched (STBR) worker, is how to secure another job as soon as possible and adjust to the new environment successfully. As explained by a STBR worker at Ford, 'There is always this level of nervousness around what are you going to do next'. Another Ford worker illustrates this question thus:

But the biggest concern that I have is that, will I be able to do that job? Will I be able to break out of the system or the mould that I'm in at the Ford Motor Company, the way we go about our business that I've been doing, coming to work every day. If I go into a new business and, what are their expectations and all those sorts of things. So that's a bit of a concern to me.

In making considerations about post-retrenchment employment a natural process is to think about what skills one has and which jobs they might be applied to. One of the key questions posed to the workers is whether they thought their skills were useful and for which occupations.

The vast majority of Ford and Alcoa workers interviewed believed they had many useful skills, but when pushed with regard to where they saw those skills securing them a job, similar to the workers directly employed by the power generators, only a few saw beyond the limited scope of related industries. Like the worker quoted above, not many were able to recognise transferability in their skills. Seemingly, this was because many of the workers were paying more attention to what they perceived as their core skills, i.e. specific hard manufacturing skills, e.g., machine operations, electrical engineering, engine assembly etc. For example, one STBR worker at Ford is highly skilled in the rare area of high-tech equipment. His most treasured skills, as far as he is concerned, are the specific hard ones. Some of the companies he sees as practically suitable destinations for him are

Carbon Revolution (an emerging advanced manufacturing company in Geelong that makes carbon fibre wheels), Holden and Toyota. Unfortunately he is also aware that the latter two companies are soon closing down, while the former is a small start-up whose future is not clear. Another STBR worker at Ford faces the same dilemma. He is an electrician who has obtained a Certificate IV in Electrotechtronics. He considers his skills to be transferable but only to related occupations and therefore recognises that there is not much work in the Geelong area in the electrical field. Like the above stated worker, his idea of transferability only extends to jobs in the same occupation but could be in a different workplace or industry.

At Alcoa similar experiences are highlighted. An ex-Alcoa worker, for example, confronted the same dilemma when she lost her job. She worked in the 'pot room', i.e. working with molten metals. She faced a major challenge in finding work because the manufacturing sector, where she focused her search, was in decline with very few job opportunities. It is only when she completed a Certificate III in Business Administration and Medical Terminology that she was able to find work. She continued to study for a Certificate IV in Business Administration.

There were other workers whose view of skills transferability was much wider and not just limited to immediately identifiable manufacturing occupations. This group of workers tended to look more to their generic non-technical skills and were therefore able to consider job opportunities further afield to non-traditional occupations. However, the majority of these tended to be employed in more managerial type positions, rather than on the shop-floor. One STBR worker, for example held various roles at Ford including Engineering Patternmaking, supervisor and middle management, and projected a highly positive outlook:

I think I have transferable skills, and what has really galvanised my view is over the last few years, when we announced closure, being on Linkedin, from time to time I will be approached, I have been approached yesterday by a national logistics company about whether I am interested in a particular role.

He sees a lot of transferability value in his generic skills but doubts that many of his colleagues have picked up these same skills sufficiently:

Some of the skills they [Ford workers] have are very transferable: How to form a relationship, how to influence and lead, yet the guys on the shop floor have not picked these skills up. It comes down to personalities as well.

One of the Ford workers interviewed for this project does not want to find work that utilises his technical skills because he sees no future in the industry. He however believes in the strength of his generic skills, which may assist him to obtain work as a training coordinator, safety officer or recruitment coordinator. Similar views were expressed by other Ford workers regarding the value of non-technical skills. Having worked in various roles, including as a Machinery Operator and Shop Steward, and undertaken various training courses in Process Manufacturing, Warehousing Operations and Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S), an STBR Ford worker felt confident that he would find a job in areas where he would utilise his training in OH&S as well as his inspection skills. A former Alcoa employee likewise has utilised some of his generic skills acquired at work, e.g. OH&S, and continued to work as a bush-fire volunteer assistant. He concluded that many of the skills he acquired on-the-job are highly transferable, although many of his colleagues may not recognise this immediately. Belonging to this category of workers who have chosen to apply their skills outside the traditional box, are those who have chosen to branch out into small business. For instance, one Ford employee contends that the skills she acquired in Financial Management, as well as Inofmation Technology (IT),

at Ford would enable her to run a small business. These two views of the transferability value of skills represent the broad range of workers interviewed, both at Alcoa and Ford.

Two important considerations seem to influence Alcoa and Ford workers' views on their skills. First, is the length of employment at the same organisation, and second is the amount of accredited training they have received, and whether they have formal post-school qualifications. In most of the traditional industries, like manufacturing, which mostly rely on unskilled and semi-skilled workers, the majority of the workforce joined their companies at a very early age, generally straight out of school. One Ford worker, for example, joined at age 16 and has been with the company for 16 years. Two who have been employed for 28 years joined at 15 and 19 years of age respectively. The majority of the workers now retrenched or STBR from Ford have been with the same company for over 20 years, with some clocking over 30. The same applies to ex-Alcoa workers.

For many of these workers, most of their skills were acquired in the workplace, with little or no formal accredited training. Therefore, only a few of them possess any formal post-school qualifications. Thus while, as explained earlier, many perceived their skills and experience as valuable, they did not see them as useful in transitioning them into new jobs, largely because, as was explained by a Ford interviewee: 'today you need a certificate to get any sort of job'. This labour market reality lead another participant who has worked for Ford for 20 years and received no accredited training, to pose the question, 'the skills I have got, who is going to recognise them?'. The combined problems of lack of formal qualifications, length of time on the same job and age, were summed up by an STBR Ford employee:

Some of the skills they have are very transferable... Some of the people here have been here nearly 40 years doing the same job, and they're the people that I'm concerned about, in their late 50s without any particular qualification, where I just hope that some employers external to Ford can accommodate where they're at. I don't know. I hope they can.

This is further emphasised by a retrenched Alcoa worker, particularly regarding formal qualifications:

I was fortunate in [that] I worked in a period with Alcoa over the years where a piece of paper wasn't that important. If you could do the job and do the job to the satisfaction of your manager, then you were the one to do that job. Some of that changed over the years, towards the end, but it was more that, if you had the skill set and the ability, then the job was yours.

The challenge is expressed by a training provider involved in the transitions in Geelong who observed that a major difficulty for retrenched workers who possess great skills is that their skills have never:

...been recognised, so they have never been able to transfer those skills over to paper. They find that difficult and frustrating and also demoralising, that they've got to go through this [accreditation training] process...

Based on these realities displayed in the perceptions of workers of their own skills, employment support agencies as well as other actors, including unions, employers and training organisations, have to devise appropriate and effective ways of supporting retrenched workers through their transition to new employment. In the next two sections we examine how these actors go about this task and the extent to which they consider existing skills in the process. We begin with an assessment of the effectiveness of the attempts that have been made to identify workers' transferable skills and the use they are put to.

Employers' skills assessment and employment transition support

Energy Brix

In the case of Energy Brix, a couple of years prior to announcing closure the company had encouraged its workers to consider undergoing RPL processes for the purposes of obtaining formal qualifications. As stated previously, many workers did not take up this opportunity. The company also engaged the Victorian Government's Workers in Transition Program just prior to the closure, which held information sessions with the workers involving JSAs, Centrelink, the local TAFE provider, unions and other support agencies. These sessions provided workers the opportunity to learn about their entitlements, support services available to them, and how to go about seeking financial, employment and training assistance. These sessions are relatively common in Victoria when employers make workers redundant, and are considered to provide important assistance to workers during a very difficult situation. However, in interviews with former Energy Brix workers who attended these meetings, few could recall much about the details of these meetings or how they assisted them. This may be due to the timing of the meetings which occurred on the day they were told about the closure or how much time had passed from when these meetings had actually occurred. Another explanation may be due to the fact that there was little or no follow-up with workers following these meetings. As explained by a union representative:

Once [the retrenched workers had] left that room, they'd got their bit of paper saying if you want training go to contact this number, contact TAFE. Information pack on what Centrelink could offer, information from Job Search providers and see you later. There was no follow up, no follow through. To this day I don't think there has been, and that was an issue. There's no tracking at all.

Although the announced closure of Energy Brix was not unexpected, given the age of the facility and indications by the company that it was becoming increasingly unviable, a number of participants interviewed indicated that the rapid pace of the closure process took many by surprise, particularly the workers. A union representative, who had personal experiences with being retrenched, noted that it was important for workers to develop a 'transition plan' but there was not sufficient time provided by the company for workers to develop these plans as 'it was just all of a sudden'.

Alcoa World Alumina

Following the announcement of the intention to close the Point Henry aluminium smelter in February 2014, Alcoa workers had very short notice until actual closure and redundancy, which occurred in July 2014. The rolling mill closure followed at the end of 2014. The task and challenge was how to transition workers into new jobs across different occupations. Consequently, following the closure announcement, the company announced, in May of 2014, that it would be assisting its NSW and Geelong employees with a \$4 million dollar package (ABC News 2014), comprising:

- One-on-one career counselling
- Information sessions
- Support for RPL
- Short term courses with Gordon TAFE

- Financial support for employees to undertake their own accredited training towards securing sustainable alternative employment (Alcoa 2014); and
- General pastoral support

Recognising the fact that most of the Alcoa workers (some of whom had been with the company for over 30 years), possessed skills in an ageing, low-tech plant, with a low potential for transferability (Potter 2014), the company offered them assistance in remodelling and remarketing themselves for other jobs (ABC News 2014). Alcoa also provided \$2000 to workers to fund tuition for accrediting skills already acquired at work. The training was provided approximately four months before the company closed, some in their own time and some in work time, via a nomination process. Furthermore, career counselling was made available, which included training on resume development, on how to do online applications, and in job search basics. It further set up information sessions to equip workers with the knowledge they needed to navigate through the transition. Various speakers were invited to present at these sessions, including investment consultants, superannuation and health funds, etc.

Ford Motor Company

The decision to close the Geelong and Broadmeadows factories was announced in May 2013. The company, according to the notice, would shut its manufacturing operations in October 2016, after some 100 years of car making in Australia. Following the announcement, employees were given the opportunity to take a voluntary redundancy package with a minimum of 3.1 weeks per year of service in compensation. Ford lowered vehicle production through the voluntary redundancy program and redeployment of employees to other non-manufacturing areas, however by mid-2014, 230 workers were stood down in forced redundancies (Drill & White 2014). Workers who were later hit with forced redundancies received four weeks' per year of service, with an additional week per year bonus, capped at 90 weeks' pay (Drill 2012).

The assistance provided by Ford to help workers affected by the closure to transition to life after they leave the company, is a lot more extensive than that provided by Energy Brix and Alcoa. The 'Ford Transition Program', as it is named, was made possible by the award of \$5 million from the Australian Government's Department of Industry to the national automotive industry training advisory body, Auto Skills Australia (ASA). The objective is to work with Ford and other stakeholders to develop and implement a comprehensive employment transition Program (Drill & White 2014). The Program includes funds for training (up to \$1000 for each worker, excluding for equipment or books). Ford workers may also be eligible for State Government funding from the Victorian Workers in Transition Program or the Victorian Training Guarantee funds. The Program includes dedicated ASA staff working in Ford sites and on request with businesses in the Ford supply chain. The role of the ASA staff, referred to as Transition Program Coordinators, is to hold at least one one-on-one consultative meeting with each worker for the purposes of helping them to develop a transition plan where they:

- discuss with each worker what their individual transition process might look like
- ensure workers have sufficient information to help with their decision-making on suitable destinations
- link workers with external job support agencies that can help them, with a particular focus on connecting workers with providers of skills recognition and re-skilling and training, where needed. The primary aim is to ensure that workers have the right skills to find new employment once they leave their current employer (Auto Skills Australia 2014).

In the first consultative meeting, the coordinator ensures that each worker considers all aspects of their life circumstances when deciding where to go after Ford. At the end of the first meeting, a preliminary personal transition plan is developed that includes agreed actions to be taken by the worker and the Coordinator on behalf of the worker. The Coordinator encourages the workers to develop a Plan A and a back-up Plan B.

Additionally Ford workers are encouraged to participate in information sessions arranged by the Transition Coordinator, which involve local representatives from government and non-government agencies coming into the Ford workplace to explain their services, including: financial (e.g. general financial education, superannuation, transition to retirement, Centrelink), career counselling and job preparation (e.g. resume writing and job search assistance), education and training, and job placement. Job fairs have also been organised by Ford, which brought together 30 local businesses and organisations who need employees, to explain the employment opportunities in their organisations. Ford has been supportive of its workers moving on to new work if they find a job whilst still working for the company. In order to provide this support but still maintain production levels, they have brought in contractors, in some instances former Alcoa workers, to come in for 6, 8, 12 or 18 months to assist with skills shortfalls.

Provision of training and formal accreditation of skills

How well workers transition following the kinds of retrenchment described above depends primarily on the attitudes and actions of their current or former employers. A helpful retrenchment process is where employers, knowing the situation, prepare their workers in a variety of ways, including personal and professional counselling, financial assistance with retraining, RPL processes, and job search assistance. Workers should be provided adequate information on future employment possibilities, based on available opportunities and the workers' skills profiles. This process is essential considering the trauma associated with retrenchment, particularly for workers who have maintained the same employment for decades and relied on the promise of job security that traditional industries offered. The sense of disorientation caused by retrenchment is captured by a Ford worker who observed that 'the biggest killer in this place is change' and explained that without adequate support, most of his colleagues would not know where to look or go. With that said, as has been the case with many ex-Energy Brix and Alcoa workers who have chosen to not regularly update or accredit their skills, nor engage with the transition process afforded to them by their employers, there is also a level of personal responsibility that workers must maintain.

The Energy Brix, Alcoa and Ford transitions were handled differently, mainly because of the amount of time allowed for the transition period. As explained earlier, the workers at Alcoa, like those retrenched from Energy Brix, were given very little notice and, although Alcoa offered its workers a significant amount of support (counselling, training and RPL, financial support), it seems to have been provided within a very short period of time and at a time when it would have been all too much for workers to meaningfully digest as a result of going through the trauma of job-loss. An employment facilitator in the Geelong region described this practice as '...too much information at a sensitive time... information overload'. Some Geelong employer and union representatives, however, viewed the government's response to the Alcoa closure process as a serious betrayal of the community and the workers. Such criticism was illustrated by a union official who saw their lack of action as stemming from a 'don't care attitude':

there was absolutely no assistance from the Federal Government at all and it was all happening... nothing, not a cent, nothing.

According to a former Alcoa employee this attitude, particularly from the Federal government, was a result of the government not deeming the Alcoa situation as serious enough to warrant assistance, due to the numbers of workers being retrenched. In contrast, Ford gave a notice of three years from May 2013 to October 2016, during which an elaborate and well-funded (with Federal Government money) transition program was put in place to assist workers in all aspects of their transition. The most critical type of support retrenched or STBR workers require is assistance with understanding how their skills can help them to obtain a new job. Ideally this assistance will be provided by employers prior to closing down their operations. Furthermore, the effectiveness of such support relies on a thorough analysis of existing skills against job-market opportunities. For example, with Ford and Alcoa different kinds of training have been offered, but the process suggests a substantial difference in employer attitudes. With Alcoa, financial support was made available for workers to obtain 'white cards', i.e., tickets to enable them to find work in the construction industry as scaffolders, riggers, machine operators, and traffic control managers. Approximately 500 white cards were issued but, as it turned out, there were far fewer jobs available in construction. Funding was also made available for workers to obtain formal qualifications for the skills they acquired on-the-job, yet the situation suggested that those skills, which were mostly specific to Alcoa operations, were not in great demand. As a result, nearly 10% of the retrenched Alcoa workers chose to retire, many of the machine operators obtained fly-in-fly-out work in Queensland, as well as employment in domestic construction, while others started their own small businesses. The important conclusion therefore is that the employer may not have performed the necessary analysis of what skills the individuals required to take them to the next job.

Once again, as was explained by a union representative, the Ford case (in reference to the comprehensive transition program established for its workers) sits in stark contrast:

If you have a look at what Ford have done and how [they] have handled it - and I know that [Alcoa] only had six months to try and cram everything in - but I've got to tell you Ford with their training, the transition, the whole lot, I think if you wanted a model, if you wanted to model, they're it. If you wanted [to show] how not to do it, Alcoa is the example.

Of note is Ford's encouragement of workers to formalise their skills or obtain further qualifications prior to the announcement of closure, which is seen as being highly supportive of staff learning. One former Ford employee interviewed for this project stated that Ford offered to pay its trade workers at an increased rate if they obtained a qualification, and they also provided financial assistance by funding the training.

Job market analysis

An examination of a study of the Ford Transition Program, administered and managed by Auto Skills Australia (ASA), made clear that regional job market circumstances, regarding declining and growing industries, form a central part of the advice and assistance provided to workers in their decisions about future employment. For example, an assessment of Ford workers' Plan As shows that 7 per cent of employees planned to transition into the area of health and community services, 4 per cent in aged care and disability services, 4 per cent in health services assistance, and a further 3 per cent in retail. Likewise, the assessment of the workers' Plan Bs indicates that 11 per cent could see themselves as working in the area of health and community services, 4 per cent in aged care/disability, 3 per cent in retail, and 2 per cent in corrections services (Automotive Skills Australia 2015). Considering these industries are experiencing growth in the region, the transition team made sure that they were at the centre of discussions regarding existing skills and any gaps requiring attention. Thus, training opportunities and skills recognition processes were structured on this basis. According to the ASA transition manager stationed at Ford, skills transferability analysis was a major part of the discussion in a series of one-on-one consultation meetings with workers. For example, the ASA process begins with the question of what work the workers think they might be able to do and where they might want to go for those jobs. In individual consultation sessions the workers are taken through a process of self-discovery geared towards establishing the full range of skills they possess, which could be used to transition them. Workers are also asked to examine their non-technical, generic skills and the activities they do outside of work as additional clues for where they might look for work moving forward. Based on this analysis decisions are made on any accredited training that might be required to formalise those skills for which the workers have no post-school qualifications, and in which industries and occupations they might start looking for jobs. This comprehensive process was detailed by the ASA Ford resident case manager in the following way:

So we've got people who are working on formalising their skills really in the form of say project management, health and safety, where they have an expertise here but no paperwork. Nothing transferable that would give them currency outside, but loads and loads of good experience. So I'm just matching it up with a qualification to make them more attractive in the workforce. So that's really from the skills... So the only thing I would say to anybody who comes to me is that if you narrow your options and you're narrow minded on your views and what you need to do and what you're going to go for, that you could be hamstringing yourself.

This particular Ford Transition Program official conducted more than 300 individual sessions and concluded that although time consuming, they are worth it. Apparently, following these sessions many workers have been able to identify different, non-manufacturing occupations where their existing skills could take them, mostly in the growing sectors, as illustrated previously. For example, realising that Ford maintains a very comprehensive health and safety regime, many workers have been encouraged to take up accreditation training in OH&S which could get them jobs as Safety Officers in many different sectors, especially the growing construction industry. Some have accredited their training and training assessment skills as well as IT skills.

How do the agencies responsible for job relocation understand workers' skills?

Job support actors' views and application of workers' skills in the transition process

Once learning of retrenchment, generally the first actors that retrenched workers in unionised firms request assistance from are union delegates or officials. The union representatives operating out of the Latrobe Valley interviewed for this project thought of skills transferability in terms of the use of technical skills being used by workers in a new position with relatively the same job title, but for a different employer. There was no real mention about the potential for horizontal occupation mobility, rather, it was stated that retrenched workers from the Latrobe power generation industry could pick up storeman type work or low level employment in food manufacturing.

One of the people who worked as an employment facilitator for displaced power industry workers, including those at Energy Brix, stated that it was not always easy to get these workers to understand the importance of soft skills in securing future employment. They speculated that this difficulty may stem from what has been noted as the workers' own emphasis on the importance of the skills they have, and their sense of entitlement, which has led to an expectation that they will 'work in this job forever'. Consequently, many of them have not 'bother[ed] retraining or upgrading their skills', and they hold feelings of being 'owed' something because they have been retrenched. It was also noted that many of the workers struggled to understand the importance of qualifications and how the skills they had developed over many years may relate to formally recognised qualifications which may assist them in finding their next job. The employment facilitator stated:

A lot of these guys in these workplaces, they do these tasks but they don't relate them to qualifications. A lot of them could easily have a qualification but they don't relate what they do every day to a qualification; they've never had to. But now you have to have that piece of paper today and that's what you have to do...

According to her, older workers often proved to be the most challenging to work with, as they were often 'angry', 'disheartened and disappointed', and negative about their chances of finding another job. A union representative expressed a similar view when they stated:

...they are a difficult workforce to re-educate because they've been doing these jobs long term in that industry. We didn't realise the difficulty, or our union didn't seem to appreciate the difficulty for these people to transition.

Employment facilitators have to adopt a range of strategies to overcome these challenges so that workers come to appreciate their transferable skills. One Latrobe Valley employment facilitator described her approach in these terms:

I'd sit with them and say, right, what can you do, what have you been doing in the last 10, 15, 20 years you've been here. They'd start stringing off all these tacit knowledge skills that they have. Then because of my knowledge of training... I was able to advise some of these guys, oh you could do this or you could do that course, all your knowledge you'll have competencies in this area. They'd walk out saying, hey, I'm not so bad after all, I have got abilities to move on and grow.

Other employment facilitators in the region spoke of similar strategies of getting workers to identify the range of skills they had developed, including 'soft' skills. When it came to the question of transferable skills, employment facilitation actors said they rarely used that descriptor when working with retrenched workers, and preferred to talk about skills involving communication, leadership or the ability to use a computer. Some stated they obtained this information

through interviews [with retrenched workers], going through their resume, talking about what they've done, talking about hobbies and skills and what they do outside of work.

The importance of skills developed outside the workplace was frequently stressed as an important component to understanding the soft and transferable skills that a worker may have acquired. As one JSA spokesperson explains, job seekers generally

...do not see the value... of what [they] do that [they] don't get paid for, and a lot of times in transition it's those skills that you've got that are going to help you transition, not necessarily that you've been a mechanic for 20 years, presumably on different sites.

Through these various strategies and processes employment facilitators maintained that they were able to open up a conversation with workers about transferable skills without necessarily referring to them in such a way. A recurrent theme among the JSA representatives was that it were these soft skills that retrenched workers needed to understand if they hoped to acquire new jobs:

What gets you in the door is the soft skills. It's the attitude, the reliability et cetera. What keeps the job is whether you can do it.

The fact that workers directly employed by the generators did not recognise their transferable skills is hardly surprising. Many of those interviewed argued that the development of transferable skills was not generally encouraged by the power generators, as these employers preferred that their employees only have the specific skills necessary to perform their specific roles:

The employers who have employed them for all this time have never seen any reason why they should encourage [workers] to develop [non-specific] skills... they don't need it to do their job. But what happens when that job is over?

As a result, many of these retrenched workers who received assistance from JSAs and other employment facilitators were found to not have computer, literacy or numeracy skills, which created serious issues for these workers when they were attempting to apply for jobs and obtain new work.

The actual support received by Energy Brix workers from employment facilitators such as JSAs following retrenchment, however, appears to be minimal. According to the former Energy Brix workers interviewed they received little or no help from JSAs when they made contact with them:

They'd say, can't help you. You can't come into an interview. We can't do anything for you. Which is disappointing, but not unexpected.

The primary reason for this is that most were only eligible for stream one funding. JSAs categorise unemployment cases depending on how long the worker seeking assistance has been out of a job. Stream one job seekers are those that are recently unemployed, while those in stream two are long-term unemployed. More support (state funding) is allocated for the former. Thus the JSAs have developed the last-in-least-supported approach because they get more money for providing support to longer-term unemployed. A JSA representative confirmed this was the case:

Generally, a worker in transition who has just been made redundant falls under that stream one, because they have recent work history, et cetera, they haven't necessarily got the barriers that

someone who's been unemployed for 12 months or more. So the problem now that they face is that the level of assistance they need or have access to is limited in the first 12 months because they don't tick over to stream two until [after] the first 12 months.

Given this situation, most retrenched power industry workers have had to rely on their own social networks and/or abilities to find new employment. This was not easy and some retrenched workers complained that they were not appropriately advised 'where the jobs are and where jobs are headed' by those who were enlisted to assist them. For some, the decision was to retrain. The decision to retrain may be a reflection of worker perceptions that they do not have transferable skills, which may have been reinforced by other actors including some JSAs and RTOs operating within the Latrobe Valley region. Had these workers perceived their skills differently, and learned how to better articulate to potential employers the wide range of skills that they had, perhaps retraining might not have been as necessary. In the Ford and Alcoa cases, on the other hand, a number of actors are identified as active in the employment transition process. These included JSAs, unions, training providers, professional counsellors and specifically appointed transition managers, as in the case of Ford. Interviews with representatives of some of these organisations reveal a great deal in regards to perceptions of the transferability of the skills of workers from the two companies. A JSA/jobactive employee was clear in his view that the skills that Geelong manufacturing workers hold are not transferable:

As far as transferable skills into other industries, I guess, the skills aren't that transferable. Like the manufacturing industry is quite hands-on and machine operation skills, that sort of thing. How do you transfer that to another role? Like it is quite hard to transfer. So I think they are looking at more up-skilling or re-educating. A lot of them have been in the industry for years, so they're perhaps mature age. So that obviously adds to the difficulty of finding other employment... [and they] don't have nationally recognised qualifications either.

From the interview it was clear that the JSA's main approach was to only look at those occupations where job-seekers' hard technical skills were a match. This reveals a rather narrow view of workers' skills, and ignores any non-technical generic and informal skills acquired in the course of their employment. This is in contrast to the view that seems to inform the reflective approach taken by the ASA, in transitioning Ford workers.

Do the skills developed over a worker's career enable them to find new jobs in a wide variety of unrelated occupations?

The value of soft skills in the employment transition outcomes

Alcoa and Ford workers

Discussions with participants from the various groups of actors in the transition process suggests that soft skills, which tend to be little discussed, are becoming an important asset for job seekers generally, including retrenched workers. The skills highlighted fall into three categories: (1) key employability skills, including: communication, teamwork, problem solving, initiative and enterprise, planning and organising, self-management, learning and technology; (2) core skills of literacy, numeracy and IT; and (3) personal attributes related to attitudes and ethics in the workplace.

The data show that, in addition to the generic key employability skills, individual attitudes and work ethic have become a major consideration for employers. For example, a representative of an employer that has hired several former Ford and Alcoa employees explained that they generally hired workers on the basis of attitude, as the workplace skills they possess are not relevant to the workplace. Another employer put emphasis on reliability, punctuality, teamwork, and 'understanding that they have a job to do and they [should] do it to the best of their ability', in addition to 'safety, quality control, following documented procedures and cost understanding'. Other skills highlighted in this broad category include the 'ability to influence and negotiate and build rapport with people... organisational awareness... [and] working within policies, guidelines and frameworks'.

It appears, however, that the first hurdle for most of the workers, both at Alcoa and Ford alike was how to approach the open job market. Apart from the problems associated with securing long-term employment, the implication is that many retrenched workers in that context do not know where or how to approach the employment market, i.e. they lack job hunting skills. As described by Ford's Transition Program official, what might seem like a simple task to the seasoned job seeker can be very daunting:

There is a recognition that anybody over five years at Ford, or any other organisation is institutionalised, they haven't had to look over the fence at anything else. The majority didn't have resumes, and the majority had no idea what the game and the labour market is outside.

The first task that many of the organisations involved in the transition assistance process have had to do therefore is to train people on how to adapt to their new employment circumstances, and how to approach the labour market as job-seekers. This includes developing skills on how to search for jobs online, write resumes, develop applications and prepare for interviews. As expressed by one worker, how to 'sell yourself'. Training providers have, for example, been engaged to provide basic computer skills. At Ford, computer facilities have been set up for people to practice their computer skills for this reason. Because of the limited time allocated for the transition at Alcoa, only quick and intensive, training sessions were offered covering most of the essentials, e.g. resume development.

Although the Alcoa transition process has been described by union officials as an illustration of 'how not to do it', it is also acknowledged as a situation where the employer tried to achieve too much in too short a time frame, due to the short closure notice. Thus, although various employment support agencies were brought in to assist, there was little time allowed to establish a transition process similar to Ford. It is largely for this reason that a systematic skills assessment was not undertaken and why much of the training provided was never properly market targeted. Consequently, only a small number managed to secure employment as shown in a study conducted by the Australian Workers Union. The study involving a survey of 102 retrenched Alcoa workers shows that, by the time the study was administered, approximately a month after closure, 44.1 per cent had applied for jobs (45), 53.9 per cent had undertaken training (55), 33.3 per cent had had an interview for a job at the time of the survey (34), 3.9 per cent had obtained new employment (4), and 77.4 per cent had seen an advisor or counsellor to help them through the period (79). Out of the workers who had undertaken training, 20 completed a course in the area of construction (white card, rigging, dogging, traffic management, etc.), three intended to work for themselves/start a business, two had completed an OH&S course, one a warehousing course, another in food handling, and nine had stated they intended to retire. As highlighted earlier, almost 10 per cent of the workers chose to retire.

Additional insights into where Ford workers may find employment comes from a recent Department of Employment report examining labour market outcomes of people exiting Motor Vehicle and Motor Vehicle Part Manufacturing (MVMVP) in Victoria and South Australia between the years 2006 and 2011. This report found that around three quarters of these workers had found employment in another sector by 2011, a further 20 per cent were not in the labour force, and 5 per cent were unemployed. The report indicated that former automotive workers found new jobs across a range of sectors, including:

- Sectors related to automotive (Automotive Repair and Maintenance, Road Freight Transport, and Motor Vehicle and Motor Vehicle Parts Wholesaling (MVMVP)), and
- Unrelated sectors (Building Cleaning, Pest Control and Gardening Services, Public Order and Safety Services, Cafés, Restaurants and Takeaway Food Services).

These findings suggest that workers facing redundancy in the automotive industry possess a wide range of useful skills and an equally wide variety of potential employment options outside the manufacturing sector. Yet interestingly, there was a difference in the labour market outcomes of those employed in different roles. For example, in 2011 Machine Operators held an unemployment rate of 15.3 per cent, and Panel Beaters, Vehicle Body Builders, Trimmers and Painters held a rate of 14.7 per cent, which is much higher than the 6.5 per cent rate recorded across the entire MVMVP population, whereas Fabrication Engineering Trades workers only had an unemployment rate of 4.3 per cent. These findings suggest that "workers skills are specific to MVMVP Manufacturing, and may not be readily transferable to other sectors" (Department of Employment 2015, p.4). A difference in the labour market outcomes of those with formal qualifications exiting the MVMVP industry was also found: Those with only a year 10 equivalent level of education had an unemployment rate of 9.8 per cent in comparison to 3.5 per cent unemployment among people holding a bachelor degree or higher. Furthermore it was found that "those who had increased their level of educational attainment or completed an educational qualification in another field between 2006 and 2011 were more likely to re-enter employment than those whose highest qualification remained the same" (Department of Employment 2015, p.5).

Whereas the full outcome of the transition process put in place at Ford is yet to be seen, the atmosphere is significantly positive and a lot of the STBR workers appear to be highly optimistic about

future employment prospects. It is fair to conclude, from the information available and the interview data, that this was not the case with Alcoa workers.

Power industry workers

The employment transition outcomes for power industry workers are uncertain. Most interviewees took a very negative view on the prospects of Latrobe power generator workers finding alternative employment. A CEO of a power industry contract company expressed this common view in these terms:

...unless we're talking about building another similar type of plant here in the Latrobe Valley the reality is most of our guys are going to struggle or be forced to relocate to chase the work.

A general manager of a different contract firm stated:

Those guys have skills that are 90 per cent applicable to the power generation industry and it's going to be very hard to reskill those guys.

These sentiments reflect the general view that these workers have very few transferable skills. These views, however, do not tell the whole story of power industry employees, their skills and where there may be other opportunities for them to find employment.

The Energy Brix closure provides us some insights into the challenges that power industry workers more generally may confront. According to a former Energy Brix union delegate who remained in semi-regular contact with some 31 of his former colleagues: 10 workers (32 per cent) had found some form of casual work, 9 (29 per cent) had found full-time work, 7 (23 percent) were unemployed, 3 (10 per cent) were retraining for a different occupation and 2 (6 percent) had decided to retire. For those employed in casual and full-time work roughly half were continuing to work in the power industry, with the other half finding work in a range of unskilled and semi-skilled occupations. According to the union delegate, most of these employed workers acquired employment through their social networks rather than a formal application process. Nonetheless, one would expect that the skills developed while working at Energy Brix would have assisted them in acquiring and performing their new jobs. In the case of those workers remaining within the power industry specific hard skills may have been the most important in acquiring new positions, while for those moving into different types of occupations soft and generic hard skills would have been important to their successes.

As highlighted previously, the challenges are likely to be greatest for those workers who have little or no labour market experiences with no formal post-school qualifications. For those with qualifications and accustomed to applying for and searching for work, occupational mobility is likely to be much easier. Many of these workers are familiar with travelling outside the region to find work when there are not jobs locally available, including fly-in-fly-out work in other resource-based regions. These are options for other displaced workers, for as one Latrobe Valley employer stated: 'they have specific skills that suit the mining and heavy industrial hotspots of Australia'. However, without recognised qualifications and social networks in these other locations, which many power industry workers do not have, it will not be easy. As one contract worker noted:

For most people, it's very hard to get a start-in if you've never worked for them before, no matter what qualification you have.

If they chose to find work within the region they will likely have to settle for less pay and less secure forms of work (short-term casual work) as appears to be the case for many of the former Energy Brix workers. Finding full-time secure employment is perceived by most people interviewed as becoming increasingly difficult within the region. As a manager for a maintenance contractor stated:

...there is still a lot of experienced people that due to redundancies over the years, have ended up in the casual market.

In order to improve the job prospects for displaced workers locally there is a need to better understand how the skills of power industry workers may relate to different occupations in other industries. Currently, there does not appear to be much effort by training system or employment facilitation actors to understand how skills utilised in the power industry may also be of benefit to other occupations in other industries, such as food manufacturing, or Gippsland's Bass Strait oil and gas industry which is located about one hour from the Latrobe Valley. A human resources manager of an oil and gas contractor interviewed for this study initially expressed the view that the skills sets of power industry workers were too significantly different from those in the oil and gas industry to enable occupational mobility between the two. Yet, she then acknowledged that some workers were in fact doing so, and thus the industry might offer some prospects for employment for retrenched power industry workers. Similar to the power industry, the oil and gas industry has an ageing workforce and has found it difficult at times to find appropriately skilled workers locally or those willing to relocate to the region. Not only does the oil and gas industry rely upon some similar skill sets and qualifications as the power industry (e.g. fitters and turners, electricians, high pressure welders, etc.), but there are similar safety and training standards so 'they're very used to the environment they're going to be going into' (oil and gas contractor, HR manager). She did note, however, that one of the major barriers for occupational mobility between similar trade related occupations in the power industry (e.g. electrical, construction, fitters) appears to be associated with the specific training requirements of Esso; the principal oil and gas company in control of the gas fields. In order for a qualified trades person to work in the industry they must undergo additional Esso training which can be quite extensive and costly for contractors to deliver:

It's about a month to get someone who has got no Esso qualifications trained up... So let's say a rigger scaffolder coming from the power industry to us it's about a month's worth of training.

Although not explored in this case study, it is likely that certain occupations within the growing dairy and food manufacturing industry that surrounds the Latrobe Valley may also offer skills transferability opportunities. The sorts of skills used by unit controllers in power stations to regulate heat and steam within boilers, for example, are likely to be somewhat similar to those used by dairy operators. Identifying the similarities in skills between these sorts of occupations requires a more sophisticated approach to understanding and analysing occupations and occupational clusters than what is currently taking place.

The region's strongest employment growth, however, is in the service sector. Transitioning into occupations within this sector will likely require considerable retraining but there are clearly soft skills which exist among the power industry workforce which will assist in facilitating this process. For example, one former Energy Brix worker has obtained employment at a Latrobe Valley funeral service as an undertaker since being retrenched. He noted that it was his 'people skills' that landed him his current position. For some workers retraining is already being pursued in anticipation of further job losses in the power industry. Older workers, however, often questioned if retraining would benefit them given their age and concerns about age discrimination. Others questioned if job growth in these sectors was sufficient to justify undergoing retraining. For them training alone was not going to solve their problems in finding employment if job opportunities were not available. These were some of the common concerns as these workers confronted an uncertain future and tried to make informed decisions about their skills, occupational mobility opportunities and retraining.

Discussion

As discussed in reports one and two, the importance of a workforce with cross-occupational transferable skills cannot be overstated. The benefits accrue to: industry because of the availability of a pool of workers with desirable employability skills; to the individual worker because of the additional employment opportunities available across occupations; and to the state because of a reduced unemployment burden and greater capacity to address occupational skills shortages. This research, based on two regional case studies, confirmed these arguments. It however further reveals that fully understanding and operationalising the concept of skills transferability is neither easy nor straightforward. A number of key questions must be considered in the process of effective and beneficial application of this concept: (1) Where are the occupational job opportunities? (2) Do the workers or job seekers in question have transferable skills and what do they look like? (3) How do we recognise the transferability potential of skills? And (4) who is best placed to identify this potential and how can their knowledge be appropriately used?

The two case studies consider situations in which workers have been retrenched or are facing the real prospects of being retrenched due to industrial change. The occupations they have been, or are currently working in, are in decline or presenting significant challenges for them in finding employment in similar jobs. An understanding of their transferable skills and how they may assist with occupational mobility into different areas of employment is therefore crucial. The case studies were designed on the premise that worker understanding of their skills and their transferable potential emerges from: the lived experience of the workers while undergoing training, performing their jobs and acquiring knowledge and competing for jobs in the labour market; and their engagement with various training system and employment facilitation actors whose role is to assist workers in acquiring employment, as well as providing career and training advice. With the many actors involved in employment transition processes during mass industrial restructuring and retrenchments, as experienced in the Latrobe Valley and Geelong, there is clearly need for a well organised, wellresourced and managed system. This system should, most importantly, focus on a comprehensive analysis of the employment market, where occupational demand is declining and growing, and how the skills possessed by the retrenched workers mirror into the landscape. The four broad questions set out above must be at the core of this analysis.

There is considerable speculation about jobs and the future of occupations in the Australian economy (see CEDA 2015). Technological change, globalisation, and industrial and organisational restructuring are predicted to have significant impact on both the number and types of occupations in the years ahead. In report one, the significant changes in occupational fortunes between the 2006 and 2011 census period were documented. This report confirmed that occupations located in the service oriented sectors, including hospitality, healthcare, retail and education and training tended to be growing while occupations in manufacturing were largely in decline. Although manufacturing activity is still occurring and will continue to occur into the future, the jobs of the future in the two regions, as well as the whole of Australia, are set to be significantly different. The question then is what happens to the retrenched workers and do they have skills which can help them obtain work in these new workplaces.

The challenges, as illustrated in these case studies are two-fold. First, most of the workers lack formal post-school qualifications for the skills they possess, acquired through work experience as well as informal on-the-job training. As illustrated in the interview quotes selected above and from our general knowledge of trends in the Australian job market, growing credentialism means little space

for undocumented skills. Secondly, the majority of these workers have been with one employer for many years, in some cases over 30 years, mostly doing the same type of work. The accreditation of skills through RPL or other forms of assessment prior to or soon after retrenchment is certainly an important step to overcoming some of the challenges that retrenched workers in this category are likely to confront when searching for new job opportunities. Too often in these retrenchment situations, however, skills are accredited into qualifications where there are limited job prospects. In the case of Alcoa, for example, instead of trying to match existing skills to jobs available in the regional job market, many workers retrained or had their skills assessed into qualifications with limited job opportunities. Similar problems emerged at Ford during the early stages of downsizing and Energy Brix, where workers were being encouraged to get their skills formally accredited into qualifications for the occupation that they were currently performing, but soon to be made redundant from. As many of these workers that were interviewed had concluded, this made little sense given these occupations and associated qualifications were rapidly becoming obsolete in the labour market due to the industrial changes taking place.

Training providers have the potential to play a much larger role in the transition of retrenched workers. Currently the input of training providers is not as well integrated as it should be and instead, they are seen as invitees to provide a training service as opposed to being an integral part of the consultative process. For example, in the cases of the Latrobe Valley power industry and Alcoa, employers and JSAs decided what further training workers would be provided, and which workplace skills would be formally accredited through RPL, and directed training actors to provide this training. In most cases, there is a lack of effective and meaningful consultation on the part of training providers in the transition process, even though, as our interviews with training providers involved in the Victorian Workers in Transition Program confirmed, they are in the best position to draw on their experience and knowledge to provide advice on which skills, qualifications and courses are in demand and which are not. In order for the transition process to be more effective it needs to be more comprehensive, but at the same time there needs to be greater synthesis of assistance provided on the part of all the actors involved, and more clearly defined roles that are appropriately applied. Training providers are best placed to develop a continuous skills market analysis which provides an understanding of what skills are valuable for retrenched workers and use this to advise employers and workers appropriately. Currently, the decision is left to workers (who have little understanding) and employers (who are often impervious) and JSAs (who are more concerned with the returns from the different categories of the unemployed). Additionally, training providers can also design courses with relevant application based on regional economic circumstances.

The research shows that there are some workers who have a clear understanding of the skills they have and their value in future employment prospects, while some see little use for their skills beyond their current employment. In most cases, those belonging to the first group are either people who have not been with one employer for too long or, if they have, they tend to belong to the high skill level category of workers. In the previous stages of this study we highlighted and discussed the different skill levels ranging from semi/unskilled (skill level 1) to highly skilled management level (skill level 5) workers. People with the experience of changing jobs are in a better position to recognise the transferability value in their skills and are unlikely to suffer the same extent of trauma and disorientation as their counterparts. This is illustrated in the accounts of trade qualified contract workers in the Latrobe Valley case. For those workers with limited labour market experience and no formal post-school qualifications, perceptions of their skills are very different. Their view of their skills tends to be narrowed to only the immediately identifiable technical skills. Thus, in most of the interviews, many of them did not think that their existing skills could help them get jobs in other employing sectors in the region. Consequently, their scope of job search was limited to similar

occupations and sectors, which in the case of manufacturing, are in decline. This is because, first, they were unable to recognise the importance of non-technical skills and, second because they lacked formal qualifications which made it far more difficult to document what transferable skills they may possess.

As highlighted from the literature, and confirmed by some of the employers and other employment actors in the study, it is soft, non-technical and generic skills which are playing an increasingly important role in employment outcomes. Employers are interested in people with communication, team work and critical thinking skills, the capacity to learn and adapt quickly to new employment settings, and other employability attributes, such as attitude towards work and others. There is little doubt that the workers interviewed in Geelong and the Latrobe Valley possessed many of these 'soft' skills but few could articulate them and/or considered them to be important skills. Furthermore, many of the workers lacked basic job market navigation skills, including writing resumes, computer and internet skills, job search and application skills, in addition to the necessary confidence to face and manage the challenges of job hunting in the modern employment market.

Training system and employment facilitation actors can perform an important role in assisting workers to understand the importance of generic hard and soft skills in occupational mobility and the broader employment opportunities beyond those constrained by technical hard skills. In interviews with training system and employment facilitation actors in both Geelong and the Latrobe Valley, there was an acute awareness of the importance of 'soft' and 'generic hard' skills for employment success in the labour market. Many of those interviewed clearly worked with job seekers on getting them to recognise these non-technical skills, how they have used and developed them in the workplace and non-workplace settings, and the value of these skills in improving their chances of transitioning to other areas of employment. The level of engagement by workers with these various training and employment facilitation actors, however, seems highly varied between the cases studies. Clearly, an effective transition program is one in which the various employment, training and job support agencies assist the worker through a process of recognising the value of their technical and nontechnical skills, formalising the most important skills and identifying appropriate occupations and sectors where their skills apply. That is, a comprehensive skills transferability analysis. Apart from a willingness to participate on the part of STBR workers, this requires sufficient time, adequate funding, and appropriate knowledge about the local labour market, the skills associated with occupational clusters and employment transition skills and experience.

Transition outcomes in the cases analysed vary significantly, mostly depending on the management and resourcing of the process. As noted earlier, the employment outcomes for Ford and Alcoa workers were different with the former being much more positive. This is in spite of the fact that a similar amount of money was provided in each case, i.e. \$5 million for Ford and \$4 million for Alcoa. The difference appears to be about time and transition management. Since the various actors must engage in a comprehensively coordinated process to identify the full extent of workers' skills, provide accreditation training where needed, and then determine where they should seek employment, the allocation of the appropriate amount of time is the key to success. Time is also required to hone their job-search skills as highlighted above. Whereas Ford initiated the transition process three years in advance of final retrenchment, thus allowing the transition team sufficient time and space, Alcoa only provided six months. Within this short period of time, an attempt was made to perform all the transition steps highlighted above. For workers in the middle of a difficult and traumatic situation of retrenchment, it was all too much, as explained by key interviewees.

In the case of the Latrobe Valley, Energy Brix workers experienced a similar situation to the workers at Alcoa. Like Alcoa, Energy Brix had indicated that its business was becoming increasingly unviable

several years before the closure. Government support had been provided to both Energy Brix and Alcoa (as well as Ford) to enable them to remain operating prior to their announced closure. These were major signs that these companies were in trouble and their closure was not unexpected within the local communities when it was officially announced. However, unlike the Ford situation, retrenched workers at Energy Brix suffered the multiple disadvantage of having neither the time nor adequate industry or government funding set aside to assist their transition. Furthermore, as newly retrenched workers, their situation was not given any attention by JSAs because of their last-in-leastsupported approach based on the prevailing job support government funding arrangements. While the workers were provided some opportunity to undertake RPL and attend information sessions associated with the Victorian Workers in Transition Program prior to being retrenched, there was limited postretrenchment support for these workers. In contrast to Geelong, where a Workforce Development Centre had been established to provide supplemental assistance for stream one job seekers, like the retrenched Alcoa workers in areas related to resume writing, career advice and counselling as well as information on regional employment opportunities, no equivalent operated in the Latrobe Valley. As a result, these workers had little opportunity to have their skills analysed or receive support to find alternative forms of employment. Furthermore, there seems to have been an assumption among both the workers and those within the training and employment facilitation system that their existing skills were generally obsolete and retraining was the only real option. For these workers, finding future employment would rely upon their social networks, submitting job applications with limited interviewing and labour market experiences, relocating to areas where their skills were in greater demand, or deciding to pay for retraining in the hopes that it would enable them to acquire work in other occupations.

Conclusion

During the transitions described in this report the notion that workers coming out of the manufacturing and power industries have obsolete skills that are unusable elsewhere in the regional economies has been aired strongly by the workers, as well as the training system and employment facilitation actors whose role is to assist them. Based on this advice, retrenched workers are commonly directed to take up training to develop alternative skills as the only way to regain entry into the job market. Many workers also believe this argument. Our findings however suggest that this is a misconception based on a narrow view of a person's range of skills, limited to hard technical skills. Our argument therefore is that, although retraining is both necessary and good, it must be based on a needs-analysis of what the worker already knows and can do, and should therefore be a way of formally recognising and accrediting existing skills and/or enhancing and redirecting them in a particular employment path.

Our study of the Latrobe Valley and Geelong retrenchment and employment transition processes show that, even when individual workers do not recognise or acknowledge it, they do possess a wide range of skills, some of which are either immediately transferable or can be shaped through additional training to become transferable. The fact that many of these workers have been able to find employment, often in very different occupations, without retraining and limited assistance from employment facilitators, suggests they did have transferable skills.

Generally people in higher skill level occupations tend to be able to recognise and apply their transferable skills much better. This is because they see value in the soft and generic skills they have acquired at work and, in some cases, received accredited training for. The same applies to people who have experienced regular changes in their employment. These two categories of workers also have the added advantage of being skilled in basic, but essential, employment market navigation skills.

These findings confirm the conclusion in stage two of this study that generic, non-technical skills are the key to employment mobility. In that report we concluded that whereas hard specific skills can be transported across a limited family of related occupations, soft and generic skills are capable of much broader transferability. We also noted that generic employability skills form an essential training component of Australia's VET but, however, as illustrated by our case studies many workers never have the opportunity to undertake formal training under the structured training package. Yet, many of the employability skills would have been developed over time based on work experience as well as informal on-the-job training.

Our conclusion, in stage two that the system is capable of developing transferable skills extends to these cases in the sense that, employment facilitators can provide advice to workers, get them to recognise, and accredit their skills into appropriate qualifications where there are real job prospects. Workers may have to do additional training to acquire full qualifications, but at least existing skills are recognised in ways that assist them in occupational mobility and job transition that is aligned with local labour market needs.

Employment and training system actors therefore have a significant responsibility to assist workers in transition so that, in the cases here where outcomes have been unsatisfactory, it is not accurate to say that workers lack transferable skills. Rather, it may be a failure on the part of the support system. Furthermore, in recognition of the growing trend in credentialism, employers have significant responsibility to ensure that workers' skills are continually upgraded with appropriate accreditation.

This would avoid the last minute rush to RPL soon-to-be-retrenched workers, as observed in the Energy Brix, Alcoa and to some extent the Ford cases. However, as we have indicated throughout the report, for RPL to be effective there also needs to a willingness on the part of workers to engage in the process.

References

- ABC News 2013, 'Ford Australia to close Broadmeadows and Geelong plants, 1,200 jobs to go', 23 May, viewed June 2015, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-05-23/ford-to-close-geelong-and-broadmeadows-plants/4707960>
- ABC News 2014, 'Aluminium producer Alcoa confirms decision to close Point Henry Smelter rolling mill', 18 February, viewed June 2015, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-02-18/aluminium-producer-alcoa-confirms-decision-to-close-point-henry/5266330
- Acquire Learning, October 23 2014, One-stop shop for Geelong job seekers, viewed June 2015, http://www.acquirelearning.com.au/learning/about/newsroom/one-stop-shop-geelong-job-seekers
- Alcoa Press Release, May 9 2014, Alcoa announces \$10 million funding for Geelong and Yennora. Accessed 20/6/2015, https://www.alcoa.com/australia/en/news/releases/geelongfunding.asp
- Automotive Skills Australia 2014, Ford Transition Project, viewed November 2014, http://www.autoskillsaustralia.com.au/workforce-development/ford-transition-project/
 - --2015, Ford Transition Project Plan A's and B's, Internal ASA Study (May 2015).
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2006, Census of Population and Housing, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
 - 2009, 1220.0 ANZSCO Australian and New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations, First Edition, Revision 1, 2009, Canberra: ABS.
 - --- 2011, Census of Population and Housing, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
 - --- 2014, Regional population growth, Australia (3218.0).
- Australian Government 2011, Securing a clean energy future, Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Birrell, B 2001, The Latrobe Valley: victims of industrial restructuring, Centre for Population and Urban Research, Monash University, Melbourne.
- Balinski, B 2014, 'Geelong braces for job losses at Alcoa, Shell', 20 February, Herald Sun, viewed June 2015, http://production.manmonthly.com.au/news/geelongbracesforjoblossesatalcoashell
- Business.gov.au 2015, Geelong Region Innovation and Investment Fund, viewed June 2015, http://www.business.gov.au/grants-and-assistance/regional-innovation/GRIIF/Pages/default.aspx
- CEDA 2015, Australia's Future Workforce, The Committee for Economic Development for Australia: Melbourne.
- Curtis, D & McKenzie, P 2001, Employability skills for Australian industry: literature review and framework development report to business council Australia. Published by Australian Council for Education Research.
- Drill S 2012, 'We won't leave: Ford workers from Geelong and Broadmeadows plants', Herald Sun, 15 August, viewed June 2015, http://www.news.com.au/finance/business/we-wont-leave-our-plant-ford-workers-from-geelong-and-broadmeadows/story-fnda1bsz-1226450354719
- Drill, S, Landy, S & Hurley D 2014, 'Ford workers face 300 job cuts at Broadmeadows and Geelong plants', Herald Sun, 6 February, viewed June 2015, http://www.heraldsun.com.au/news/victoria/ford-workers-face-300-job-cuts-at-broadmeadows-and-geelong-plants/story-fni0fit3-1226819477821
- Drill, S & White A 2014, 'Ford sacks hundreds of workers at Geelong and Broadmeadows plants', Herald Sun, 20 June, viewed June 2015, http://www.heraldsun.com.au/news/victoria/ford-sacks-hundreds-of-workers-at-geelong-and-broadmeadows-plants/story-fni0fit3-1226961103147
- Department of Employment 2015, Labour market outcomes of people exiting Motor Vehicle and Motor Vehicle Part Manufacturing: Insights from ABS Longitudinal Census data, 2006 and 2011, Commonwealth of Australia; Canberra.
- European Commission 2011, Transferability of skills across economic sectors by European Commission, European Union Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity Progress (2007-2013).
- Fairbrother, P, Snell, D, Cairns, G, Bamberry, L, Tyler, M, Pape, M & Rioux, C 2012, Identifications of opportunities to support structural adjustment in the Latrobe Valley Melbourne: RMIT University.
- Fairbrother, P, Snell, D, Bamberry, L, Vega, D & Homsey, C 2013, Skilling the bay-Geelong regional labour market profile, final report, report for Skilling the Bay and the Victorian Government. Melbourne: Centre for Sustainable Organisation and Work, RMIT University.
- Fairbrother, P, Snell, D, Bamberry, L, Condon, L, McKenry, S, Winfree, T, Stroud, D & Blake, J 2012, Jobs and Skills Transition for the Latrobe Valley, Melbourne: RMIT University/Swinburne University.
- Ford 2015, 'About Ford Australia', viewed August 2015, http://www.ford.com.au/aboutfordaustralia
- The Gordon 2015, Skilling the Bay project summary, viewed June 2015, http://www.thegordon.edu.au/industry/skilling-the-bay/skilling-the-bay-project-summary
- G21 Regional Alliance, 2014, G21 Region Profile update, Geelong, viewed June 2014,

Green, S 2014, 'Election focus on jobs as Victoria's unemployment hits 13-year high', The Age, 24 November, viewed June 2015,

<http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/victoriastateelection2014/electionfocusonjobsasvictoriasunemployme nthits13yearhigh2014112411s183>

- GRLLEN (Geelong Region Local Learning and Employment Network), 2014 (unpublished), Community partnership proposal for a community based project to assist mature aged retrenched worker, Geelong.
- Harris, J, Wihak, C & Van Kleef, J 2014, Handbook of the Recognition of Prior Learning: research into practice. Leicester, England: National Institute of Adult Continuing Education.
- Kazakevitch, G, Foster, B & Stone, S 1997, The effects of economic restructuring on population movements in the Latrobe Valley, Department of Immigration and Multicultural Affairs.
- Latrobe City 2010, Positioning Latrobe City for a low carbon emission future, Morwell: Latrobe City.
- Mayer Committee 1992, 'Key competencies' report of the committee to advise the Australian Education Council and Ministers of Vocational Education, Employment and Training on Employment Related Key Competencies for Post compulsory Educational and Training. Australian Education Council and Ministers of Vocational Education, Employment and Training.
- Mills, N, May 5 2015, State Budget: Geelong region gets cash for Simonds Stadium, GPAC and schools, Geelong Advertiser, viewed June 2015, http://www.geelongadvertiser.com.au/news/geelong/state-budget-geelong-region-gets-cash-for-simonds-stadium-gpac-and-schools/story-fnjuhovy-1227337064077
- Misko, J 1999, 'Do skills transfer? An empirical study', NCVER, Adelaide, pp.289-300.
- --1995, 'Transfer: using learning in new context', NCVER, Adelaide.
- McDonald, M, May 3 2013, Alcoa production cuts may lead to Geelong job losses, Manufacturers' Monthly, viewed June 2015,

<http://production.manmonthly.com.au/news/alcoaproductioncutsmayleadtogeelongjobloss>

- Murphy, N 2014, Alcoa to shut Port Henry smelter and mills, 1000 jobs to go, Geelong Star <http://geelong.starcommunity.com.au/indy/2014-02-18/alcoa- shut-point- henry-smelters- mills-2000-jobsgo>
- Nelson, L 2014, 'End of the line: HRL announces Energy Brix closures', Latrobe Valley Express, 10 August, http://www.latrobevalleyexpress.com.au/story/2453321/end-of-the-line-hrl-announces-energy-brix-closures/
- National Quality Council 2010, Foundation skills in VET products for the 21st century, Published by National Quality Council.
- Paul, M 2014, 'Geelong prepares for Alcoa job losses, as PM and Premier discuss assistance', ABC News, 19 February, viewed June 2015, http://www.abc.net.au/news/2014-02-19/geelong-prepares-for-alcoa-job-losses/527022>
- Patridge, K, Chapman, A & O'Neil, M 2009, Transference of skills in a post-compulsory vocational teacher education course in Western Australia, Research in Post-Compulsory Education, vol.14, no.2, pp.105-117.
- Potter, B 2014, The fall and rise of Geelong, AFR Magazine, 28 February, viewed June 2015, http://www.afr.com/itpro/thefallandriseofgeelong20140227jk11f>
- Skills for Jobs 2013, The Training and Skills Commission five-year workforce development plan, Better Skills, Better Work and Better State, Government of South Australia.
- Snell, D 2011, Phasing out coal power generation in Australia: policies, corporations and unions, labour and industry, vol.22, no.1/2, pp.143-168.
- Sweet, R, 2011, The mobile worker: concepts, issues, implications, NCVER, Adelaide.
- --2009, A competent recovery? Economic downturn and Australia's Vocational Education Training system, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Vinson, T 2004, Community adversity and resilience. Richmond: Jesuit Social Services.
- Vinson, T, Rawsthorne, M, Beavis, A & Ericson M 2015, Dropping off the edge 2015: persistent communal disadvantage in Australia, Australian Policy Online, viewed August 2015, http://apo.org.au/research/dropping-edge-2015-persistent-communal-disadvantage-australia
- Wen, P, 2 March 2013, 'Future of Alcoa's Geelong plant in doubt', Sydney Morning Herald, viewed June 2015, http://www.smh.com.au/business/miningandresources/futureofalcoasgeelongplantindoubt201305022ivhf.html
- Victoria Government 2010, Taking action for Victoria's future: Victorian climate change action plan, Melbourne: Victorian Government Department of Premier and Cabinet.
- Victoria Government 2012, State of the Valley Report, Melbourne: Department of Education and Early Childhood Development.